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Building a Track Record
10 YEARS AT CREIT

CREIT has consistently delivered the benefits of real estate ownership to its

investors over the past 10 years. We have provided reliable monthly income

to our Unitholders and steady growth in our earnings. As we have acquired

and developed our real estate portfolio, we have built a solid reputation and

an enviable track record.

Distributable income has increased in each of the past 10 years.

From CREIT’s establishment as a real estate investment trust in July 1993 

to the end of 2003, we have delivered a compound annual return of 14.8% 

to our Unitholders.

CREIT’s strategy is designed to deliver steady, reliable returns to our investors. 

The key components of our strategy include:

•  Adhering to a disciplined approach to acquisitions focused on accumulating 

a portfolio of quality real estate assets;

•  Diversifying and balancing the portfolio by asset class and geography; and

•  Building an exceptional capability to manage and lease our properties.

Pages 4 to 9 of this report outline more details about our strategy.

Quarterly Distributable Income per Unit since 1994
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Distributable income per Unit (diluted) rose to

$1.36 from $1.33 in 2002 while cash distribu-

tions per Unit increased to $1.23 from the

$1.20 paid in 2002. Our total assets grew by

$100 million to almost $1.3 billion.

A significant highlight of 2003 was the fact that

our occupancy rates improved in all three asset

classes – retail, industrial and office – despite

mixed rental markets. Out total occupancy rose

to 95.9% from 94.0% a year earlier. Rental

markets were generally soft across the country,

but we were able to retain and attract more

than our share of tenants.We believe this is due,

at least in part, to our focus on developing an

outstanding capability in property management

and leasing. Steadily building up a distinguish-

able core competency in property management

and leasing is a critical part of our long-term

growth strategy, which made our better-than-

market leasing performance in 2003 gratifying.co
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Building CREIT, Delivering Results
LETTER FROM THE PRESIDENT AND CEO

2003 was another outstanding year for CREIT. We achieved important

financial and operating targets and continued to build the base for our

future success.

DAVID PHILPOTT, 1927 TO 2004

We will miss our former Chairman, David Philpott. David became Chairman of 

the CREIT Board of Trustees in September 1996, when CREIT acquired the

MD Realty Fund, and continued in this position until he passed away in January 2004.

David enjoyed a remarkable career in the real estate business, as a founding member of Trizec

Corporation, a senior executive at Cadillac Fairview Corporation and a key person in the development 

of many successful properties across Canada, including the Yorkdale Shopping Centre in Toronto and 

Place Ville Marie in Montreal.

On the personal side, David had an equally exciting life. He once attempted to sail solo around the world 

on a 30-foot sailboat. He did not complete the trip, but managed to overcome incredible circumstances 

to survive. He wrote a book about the trip, which became a best-seller in Canada.

IT WAS THIS ENTHUSIASM AND ENERGY THAT DAVID BROUGHT TO HIS RELATIONSHIP 

WITH CREIT. WE WERE FORTUNATE TO HAVE HIM AS PART OF OUR TEAM.
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While we were delighted with the return Unitholders earned

during the year, we have always focused more on our

performance over the longer-term.

RETURNS TO UNITHOLDERS

CREIT’s Units closed the year on the Toronto

Stock Exchange at $15.97 compared to $13.13

a year earlier, providing a total return to Unit-

holders, including reinvested distributions, of

33% for the year.

CREIT celebrated its tenth anniversary in

2003. While we were delighted with the return

Unitholders earned during the year, we have

always focused more on our performance 

over the longer-term. Over the past 10 years,

the compound annual return to CREIT

investors has been 14.8%, an outstanding

performance, particularly given our relatively

conservative risk profile.

Our goal is to consistently deliver year-over-

year growth of 2% to 3% in our reported

income. Since, over time, our Unit price tends

to trade on a multiple of reported earnings,

growth of 2% or 3% in our earnings should

result in a commensurate increase in our Unit

price.This assumes that there are no major

economic or interest rate changes that would

otherwise affect our earnings multiple.

Therefore, the total return to Unitholders in

any given year should be our current yield

(which is the current payout divided by the

current price) plus the anticipated Unit price

increase that reflects the 2% to 3% growth 

in earnings (assuming higher earnings are

achieved).Against this background, the capital

markets are simply never that predictable. But

over a long-term investment horizon, this is a

very reasonable way for Unitholders to develop

their own expectations regarding the likely

total returns from their investment in CREIT.

2003 ACTIVITIES

CREIT completed 10 acquisitions during the

year. Our largest acquisition was the purchase

of 1508 and 1580 West Broadway, an office

retail complex in Vancouver. Four acquisitions

completed during the year involved the

purchase of land adjacent to, or underneath,

existing properties.

The Vancouver property, a 146,000 square foot

complex located in the South Granville neigh-

bourhood, epitomizes our strategy of patiently

acquiring quality assets.The property is located

on one of the busiest intersections outside the

city’s downtown core, achieving rents higher

than many comparable city centre buildings.

The property includes strong street-front retail,

and is located in the heart of one of the city’s

best real estate markets.The purchase price 

was $42.2 million.

1 year

33.0%
3 years

22.5%
10 years

14.8%

CREIT’s Return to Unitholders*

* Shows compound annual returns including Unit price appreciation

and reinvested distributions. 
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STRATEGY AND OUTLOOK

Our goal is to achieve top tier investment

returns, as measured against our peer group 

of real estate investment trusts, over the 

long-term.

We try to maintain a balance of properties,

diversified by asset class and geography.We

focus on acquiring quality properties because

we believe that they will deliver superior

returns. CREIT maintains full management

and leasing responsibilities for its buildings,

providing us with the opportunity to earn

significantly higher returns from our assets

over time.We are building an information-

based corporate culture that is oriented to

consistently improve the returns from our

existing properties.

Our intent is to build a superior track record

in every area of the business that drives results,

including acquisitions, operations and

corporate governance.

We believe in good governance not because

regulators encourage it, but because we see 

it as an essential element in our continued 

success. Responsible disclosure increases

confidence and allows investors to better assess

risk. Over the years, we have demonstrated 

a commitment to high levels of disclosure.

In this annual report, our Management’s

Discussion & Analysis (MD&A) section,

beginning on page 14, has been expanded 

and re-oriented to conform to recent guide-

lines issued by the Canadian Institute of

Chartered Accountants and new requirements

from the Canadian Securities Administrators.

The acquisitions environment is much more

competitive now than it was just a year or 

two ago.Acquisition markets ebb and flow,

and we are prepared to be patient to ensure

that we grow solely to add value, not simply

to get larger.

In 2004, we will maintain our conservative 

and disciplined approach.We will continue 

to build on our strong foundation of quality

assets as well as our property management 

and leasing capabilities.

We will continue to deliver reliability and are

confident that we will meet our 2004 income

growth targets.

Stephen E. Johnson

President and Chief Executive Officer

April 16, 2004

Our intent is to build a superior track record in every area

of the business that drives results, including acquisitions,

operations and corporate governance.
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HOW DO YOU BUILD RELIABILITY INTO

A REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST?

CREIT focuses on asset quality and

diversification.

Quality is critical to CREIT’s business model,

because great assets are an integral part of

maintaining high occupancy levels and rental

rates, while attracting superior tenants.

Superior tenants reduce risk.

CREIT has created a healthy geographic

diversity in its assets, spread across most major

centres in Canada.We have an ownership

interest in 13.7 million square feet of space in

a total of 118 properties. Each local real estate

market behaves differently, moving in its own

way as economic cycles wax and wane.

We’re also careful in how we choose among

asset classes – retail, industrial and office –

because each class differs in its degree of risk,

return and volatility. By design, we are more

diversified than most REITs. Our targeted

portfolio mix of 50% retail, 25% industrial and

25% office is geared to providing an optimal

blend of risk, stability and total return.

But there’s more to building reliability than

acquiring quality assets and creating a

diversified portfolio.

CREIT maintains a conservative approach to

financial management.We try to stagger our

debt to achieve relatively even annual maturities

over a 10-year time horizon, reducing our

exposure to interest rate fluctuations.While

CREIT has a permitted indebtedness ratio of

60%, our target operating level of indebtedness

is a more cautious 55%.

CREIT ALSO ADHERES TO A

CONSERVATIVE DISTRIBUTION PAYOUT

RATIO, IN THE GENERAL RANGE OF 

90% OF DISTRIBUTABLE INCOME. 

THIS IMPROVES THE SECURITY OF 

OUR PAYOUT, WHILE PROVIDING US

WITH ADDITIONAL RESOURCES TO

INVEST IN THE BUSINESS.

At CREIT, the emphasis has always been on reliability.

Quality assets have historically delivered a steady and

secure rental stream. The higher the quality of the

underlying asset, the more secure the income.

Building Reliability
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Baymac
Shopping Centre

• Baymac was built in 2001 and 2002, with CREIT

acquiring a 50% interest on August 15, 2002. 

The 220,420 square foot centre is situated on 

29.5 acres in a high-traffic area in the prosperous

northern suburbs of greater Toronto.

• National and regional tenants represent almost

90% of rental income and the centre is 100%

leased. Major tenants include Wal-Mart and A&P.

Another 16,645 square feet of space is being

developed with completion expected this year.

• Average income within a five kilometre radius 

is more than $80,000. Richmond Hill is one of

Canada’s fastest-growing communities of more

than 100,000 people, with population growth

almost five times the Ontario average from 

1996 to 2001.

FOR LEASING INFORMATION, CALL FINLEY

MCEWEN AT 416-628-7800 OR E-MAIL HIM 

AT FMCEWEN@CREIT.CA

BUILDING RELIABILITY 

INTO OUR PORTFOLIO STRATEGY

In our retail property portfolio, CREIT

focuses on non-enclosed shopping centres,

anchored by major tenants in locations with

strong demographic fundamentals. These

properties typically have lower operating

costs than enclosed centres and are less

vulnerable to changes in consumer tastes.

They deliver a secure, reliable income stream.

RICHMOND HILL, ONTARIO



• Acquired for $26 million in 2001, or about

$120 per square foot. Comparable replace-

ment cost today would be about $250 

per square foot, more than twice our

acquisition cost.

• Built in 1986 and renovated in 2002, the

property consists of 217,800 rentable square

feet on 21 floors, plus underground parking.

This Class A building is in a prime downtown

office location close to the commuter ferry

terminal, shops, banking and restaurants.

• 93% leased at December 31, 2003 with 

major tenants including Atlantic Canada

Opportunities Agency, Burchell Hayman

Parish, Great West Life, Mercer Human

Resource Consultants and Merrick Holm.

FOR LEASING INFORMATION, CALL WENDY

HEISLER AT 902-491-2916 OR E-MAIL HER 

AT WHEISLER@CREIT.CA

HALIFAX, NOVA SCOTIA


Hollis Street

BUILDING GROWTH 

INTO OUR PORTFOLIO STRATEGY

In its office portfolio, CREIT focuses on large, well-located

buildings in selected major cities. The emphasis is also on

acquiring at below replacement cost so that we can remain

very competitive in the event that new projects are

developed in our markets. These properties offer the

opportunity for significant income growth as demand 

for office space increases and rental rates rise.
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CREIT’s assets totalled about $1.3 billion 

at December 31, 2003, almost double that 

of three years ago.

As any real estate portfolio expands, it becomes

more difficult to grow earnings per Unit

through acquisitions, as the additional income

from each new property acquisition has

relatively less impact on the results of the total

portfolio.As we continue to grow our port-

folio, our property management and leasing

capabilities will become more significant 

in determining CREIT’s performance.With

this in mind, we have continued to increase 

our focus on improving our ability to achieve

strong performance from existing assets.

Of course, acquisitions remain a source of

growth.While acquisition markets can be vola-

tile, adding quality properties to our portfolio

at reasonable prices benefits our Unitholders.

We’re careful to acquire only quality assets,

balancing our portfolio by geography and

among three asset classes.

In retail, we seek proprietary or dominant

market locations, where superior tenants can

be confident of locating for the long-term.

We try to acquire office buildings below

replacement cost so we can aggressively 

compete on rent with new buildings that may

enter the market. In the industrial sector, we

try to create critical mass in our target markets

while accumulating a range of industrial

properties to allow our tenants room to grow.

THROUGH THIS BALANCED APPROACH,

WE AIM TO CONSISTENTLY AND

STEADILY DELIVER GROWTH IN THE

CASH DISTRIBUTIONS WE PAY OUT 

TO OUR UNITHOLDERS EACH YEAR.

There are two ways for REITs to consistently grow earnings per

Unit — externally, by making accretive acquisitions, and internally,

by improving the performance of the existing portfolio. Both are

important, but as CREIT’s portfolio expands, growth from our

existing assets will be the key performance driver.

Building Growth

C R E I T  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 3 7



While CREIT has been successful over the

years in accumulating a portfolio of quality

assets, we realize that our ability to continue

our strong performance will rely more each

year on nurturing a superior operations culture.

This is not an easy thing for a real estate

company to do.Traditionally, the dominant

culture in real estate companies has been deal

oriented, where making acquisitions and

developing new properties have been the

activities most valued by management.

While CREIT still needs to acquire new pro-

perties and expand its portfolio, over the past

few years we have focused on developing an

orientation that is different from many of our

peers – one that centres on best practices in all

aspects of property management and leasing.

To help achieve this, we have invested several

million dollars to create a sophisticated

information system.The system tracks all our

buildings, tenants, occupancy agreements and

other key items of information. It’s available at

the touch of a button to all CREIT employees.

Our information systems have been built so

that our key performance targets can easily 

and routinely be accessed and monitored by 

all those responsible for achieving the targets.

We believe our solid leasing performance 

in 2003 reflects our emphasis on operations.

Despite weak markets, especially in the office

sector, we were able to increase occupancy

rates and generally outperform the market.

We are developing a corporate culture where

strength in property management and leasing

is clearly the targeted core competency.

IN 2004 WE WILL CONTINUE TO BUILD

THE RESOURCES, SKILLS AND TOOLS

OUR EMPLOYEES WILL NEED TO

ACHIEVE THE AMBITIOUS GOALS WE

HAVE FOR CREIT, BOTH IN THE SHORT-

TERM, AND MORE IMPORTANTLY, OVER

THE LONG-TERM.

Over the past 10 years CREIT has developed a comprehensive

business philosophy; one built from an understanding of what

it really takes to deliver both reliable, monthly distributions

and consistent growth.

Building the Future
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In each of the annual reports

we have produced over the

years, we’ve brought a desire

to inform and educate. This

objective is also behind the

thinking in the redesign of our

Management’s Discussion &

Analysis (MD&A) section of this

year’s report, which begins on

page 14. The section, and a new

MD&A “at-a-glance” spread that

precedes it, is aimed at provid-

ing a more comprehensive, 

yet focused, view of CREIT’s

strategies, business environ-

ment and performance.

At CREIT, we firmly believe that

it is important for Unitholders

to understand their investment.

We believe we have a responsi-

bility to keep investors fully

informed about our business

and its performance. The

better we can align investors’

expectations with CREIT’s

actual performance, the more

stable the valuations of our

Units will be, and the higher

the likelihood that our

investors will become satisfied,

long-term holders.

Building
Understanding
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CREIT believes that solid, long-term performance

from a real estate portfolio is achieved through an

organization’s ability to develop superior property

management and leasing capabilities.

We will continue to actively develop our staff and system capabilities so 

that we can maximize both occupancy and lease rates, and at the same time

effectively manage building operating costs. We will also continue to focus

on tenant satisfaction to achieve high levels of tenant retention.

DELIVERING RESULTS FOR TENANTS AND INVESTORS

Building CREIT

STRATEGY

RESULTS

Annual Distributable Income 
per Unit since 1994

STRATEGY • QUALITY ASSETS • INFORMATION SYSTEMS • TENANT SERVICE • CORPORATE GOVERNANCE • RESULTS
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Schedule of Properties (as at December 31, 2003)

CREIT OWNS A HIGH-QUALITY PORTFOLIO OF MORE THAN 115 RETAIL, INDUSTRIAL AND OFFICE PROPERTIES.

Ownership Total Area Ownership % 

Retail Properties Location Interest (Sq.Ft.) (Sq.Ft.) Leased Major Tenants 1

135 Wyse Road Halifax, NS 100% 10,028 10,028 100% Credit Union Atlantic, ICI Paints  

552-560 Sackville Drive Halifax, NS 100% 15,160 15,160 100% Swiss Chalet, Mike’s Restaurant  

Young-Kempt Centre Halifax, NS 100% 29,878 29,878 100% Smith & Scott Steakhouse, NS Power Corp.  

9 Champlain Drive Dieppe, NB 100% 21,895 21,895 100% Swiss Chalet, Mike’s Restaurant  

209 Chain Lake Drive Halifax, NS 50% 95,700 47,850 100% Value Village, Burger King  

655 University Avenue Charlottetown, PEI 100% 26,043 26,043 100% Staples  

Baie D’Urfe Plaza 90 Morgan Road, Baie D’Urfe, PQ 100% 62,011 62,011 95% Provigo, Teal Sport, SAQ, a Canadian chartered bank 

Hull Wal-Mart Centre Blvd. Du Plateau, Hull, PQ 50% 240,928 100,445 100% Wal-Mart, Staples, Bouclair  

Blue Bonnets Shopping Centre Decarie Expressway & Rue Jean-Talon, Montreal, PQ 50% 214,399 107,200 100% Wal-Mart, Mark’s Work Wearhouse, Pier One Imports 

Winston Power Centre 2460 Winston Churchill Blvd., Oakville, ON 100% 112,680 112,680 100% Winners, Sport Chek, Staples

Springdale Square 55 Mountainash Drive, Brampton, ON 100% 105,432 105,432 100% Fortino’s, two chartered banks, Blockbuster Video 

Baymac Shopping Centre 1070 Major MacKenzie Drive, Richmond Hill, ON 50% 245,294 121,490 99% Wal-Mart, A&P

South Keys Shopping Centre Bank Street & Hunt Club Road, Ottawa, ON 50% 486,127 233,691 100% Wal-Mart, Loblaws, Cineplex Odeon 

Woodside Power Centre Steeles Avenue & Warden Road, Markham, ON 50% 325,801 162,901 100% Home Depot, Winners, Chapters  

Westridge Power Centre 3900 Highway 7 West, Woodbridge, ON 50% 369,912 184,975 100% Chapters, Toys ‘R’ Us, Best Buy, Linens ‘N Things  

North Maple Mall 801 St. Clair Street, Chatham, ON 50% 229,063 114,532 100% Wal-Mart, Zehr’s  

Brookdale Centre 950-993 Brookdale Avenue, Cornwall, ON 100% 267,651 267,651 100% Wal-Mart, A&P  

Gardiners Town Centre 460-506 Gardiners Road, Kingston, ON 100% 105,987 105,987 98% A&P, Shoppers Drug Mart, Reebok Canada  

Halton Village 315 Guelph Street, Georgetown, ON 100% 74,185 74,185 100% Canadian Tire, Mark’s Work Wearhouse, Boston Pizza 

Stafford Centre 3655-3659 Richmond Road, Nepean (Ottawa), ON 100% 137,579 137,579 100% Loeb, Winners, Mark’s Work Wearhouse  

Glenmore Square 7740-18th Street S.E., Calgary, AB 100% 76,079 76,079 97% Safeway, Shoppers Drug Mart, Shell Canada  

Shawnessy Village 70 Shawville Boulevard S.E., Calgary, AB 100% 101,852 101,852 100% Safeway, Blockbuster Video, A&W  

London Town Square 3431-3545 32nd Avenue N.E., Calgary, AB 100% 70,815 70,815 98% London Drugs, Penningtons, Moores  

Cornerstone Power Centre 1910-1960 Strachan Road, Medicine Hat, AB 100% 112,236 112,236 100% IGA, Staples, Mark’s Work Wearhouse, Petcetera  

South Trail Shopping Centre Calgary Trail South and 34 Avenue, Edmonton, AB 100% 68,116 68,116 100% Future Shop, HomeSense   

St. Albert Square 445 St. Albert Road, St. Albert, AB 100% 58,316 58,316 100% Staples, Indigo Books & Music  

10010-132 Avenue Edmonton, AB 100% 11,532 11,532 100% Swiss Chalet  

Clareview Towne Centre 4250-137 Avenue, Edmonton, AB 100% 50,829 50,829 100% Future Shop, Mark’s Work Wearhouse  

Crossroads Shopping Centre 4212 South Calgary Trail, Edmonton, AB 50% 26,765 13,383 100% Earl’s Restaurant, Alberta Treasury Branch  

Summer Breeze Shopping Centre 4108 South Calgary Trail, Edmonton, AB 50% 52,780 26,390 93% Staples, Sport Mart  

South Point Shopping Centre 3203-3289 South Calgary Trail, Edmonton, AB 50% 81,657 40,829 100% Petsmart, Indigo Books & Music, Mikasa  

Depot 170 9930-170th Street, Edmonton, AB 100% 79,628 79,628 100% Petsmart, Indigo Books & Music  

Swift Current Shopping Centre 1 Springs Drive, Swift Current, SK 100% 194,530 194,530 93% Zellers, Safeway  

Maple Ridge Square 22441 Dewdney Trunk Road, Maple Ridge, BC 100% 81,570 81,570 95% Extra Foods, Saan Stores, Shoppers Drug Mart  

Pinetree Village 2991 Lougheed Highway, Coquitlam, BC 100% 200,277 200,277 99% Save-On Foods, Future Shop, Indigo Books & Music  

Discovery Harbour 2 1350 Island Highway, Campbell River, BC 50% 389,311 194,656 98% Loblaws, Zellers, Canadian Tire  

1508 & 1580 West Broadway 2 Vancouver, BC 100% 64,183 64,183 100% Chapters, Restoration Hardware  

Island Home Centre 805 Cloverdale Ave., Victoria, BC 100% 165,875 165,875 96% Future Shop, Michaels, Staples, Sears   

Columbia Place Shopping Centre 1210 Summit, Kamloops, BC 50% 129,876 64,938 94% Overwaitea Foods, B.C. Liquor Store  

Columbia Square Shopping Centre 500 Notre Dame, Kamloops, BC 50% 102,348 51,174 95% Toys ‘R’ Us, Office Depot  

Spruceland Shopping Centre 687 Central Street, Prince George, BC 65% 141,404 91,913 98% Overwaitea Foods, Shoppers Drug Mart, Petcetera  

The Shops at Oak Brook Place 2155 West 22nd Street, Oak Brook (Chicago), IL 100% 176,920 176,920 100% T.J. Maxx, Nordstrom Rack, Old Navy  

Total Retail 5,612,652 4,068,421 99%   
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Industrial/ Ownership Total Area Ownership % 

Warehouse Properties Location Interest (Sq.Ft.) (Sq.Ft.) Leased Major Tenants 1

Burnside Industrial Park Halifax, NS 100% 785,886 785,886 95% Sauder Industries Limited, Lawton’s Drug Stores, 

(15 properties) Cantrax

510-560 Orly Blvd. Dorval, QC 100% 121,361 121,361 60% Tubular Industries, Airport Steel & Tubing

4771-4825 Couture Blvd. St. Leonard, QC 100% 89,765 89,765 96% Canplast

925 Brock Road Pickering, ON 100% 253,940 253,940 100% MDC, Emerson Electric

927, 929, 931 Brock Road Pickering, ON 100% 57,882 57,882 100% North American Van Lines

90 Nolan Court Markham, ON 100% 123,647 123,647 99% Cameo Kitchens, Contract Furniture

1100 Squires Beach Road Pickering, ON 100% 191,778 191,778 100% RDP Fulfillment, Automodular

8100 Park Hill Drive Milton, ON 100% 101,463 101,463 100% Sauder Industries Limited

Airport Business Park North Mississauga, ON 100% 575,288 575,288 100% Trigistix, Tristar, Forzani’s, McCormick

(6 properties)

45 West Wilmot Richmond Hill, ON 100% 186,800 186,800 100% Flexmaster, Computer Logistics, TC Tooling, PC Outlet

951 Denison Markham, ON 100% 65,497 65,497 90% TEDA Enterprises, Black Box Canada

690 Gana Court Mississauga, ON 100% 59,480 59,480 100% Hunt Corporation

6290 Kestrel Road Mississauga, ON 100% 40,549 40,549 100% CDC Distribution Centres

705-725 Belfast Road Ottawa, ON 100% 55,751 55,751 100% United Auto Parts

Foothills Industrial Park Calgary, AB 100% 749,021 749,021 93% Caytec Equipment, Global Wood Products,

(14 properties) Architectural Windows

Bonaventure Business Park Edmonton, AB 100% 104,347 104,347 100% Anixter Canada Inc.

Eastgate Business Park Edmonton, AB 100% 266,341 266,341 84% Smurfit, Berlinex Inc., WFF Fittings

(3 properties)

11724-180 Street Edmonton, AB 100% 94,681 94,681 100% Crossroads C&I Distributors Inc.

15706-116 Avenue Edmonton, AB 100% 57,696 57,696 100% Kal Tire, Penske Canada

Great Plains Business Centre 72nd Avenue, Calgary, AB 100% 182,516 182,516 100% ATS-Andlauer, Tire Country, Canadian Alliance

Skyline Industrial Park Calgary, AB 100% 334,596 334,596 93% Calgary Health Region, Field Aviation, Primco Ltd.

(4 properties)

Valleyfield Business Centre 2880-45th Avenue S.W., Calgary, AB 100% 224,782 224,782 98% Western Logistics, Heritage Office Furnishings

Norwester Distribution Centre Edmonton, AB 50% 443,334 221,667 89% Teco-Westinghouse, Graphic Papers, United Auto Parts

Total Industrial/Warehouse 5,166,401 4,878,842 95%

Office Properties

Young Tower 6080 Young Street, Halifax, NS 100% 140,022 140,022 94% Government of Canada, Rogers Cantel, Eastlink Telephone

1801 Hollis Street Halifax, NS 100% 217,578 217,578 93% Mercer Human Resources, ACOA, Burchell Hayman Parish

Metropolitan Place 99 Wyse Road, Halifax, NS 50% 199,228 99,228 95% Human Resources Development Canada, Aviva Insurance,

ING Insurance

Place Sherbrooke 1010 Sherbrooke Street W., Montreal, PQ 100% 328,637 328,637 94% Canaccord Capital, Fournier Pharma, Omni Mtl Hotel Trust

100 Alexis Nihon Blvd. Montreal, PQ 100% 287,798 287,798 85% Quintiles, Alis Technologies, Groupe Voyage 2000 Vision

80 Micro Court Markham, ON 100% 81,835 81,835 100% Toyota Credit, National Computer Professionals

Birch-Oak Centre 243-251 North Service Road & 1122 Dorval Drive, 100% 59,653 59,653 98% Royal LePage, Tempo Canada

Oakville, ON

525 University Avenue Toronto, ON 91% 189,890 172,476 100% Credit Suisse/AT&T, Ontario Medical Association

Heron’s Hill 2001 & 2005 Sheppard Avenue E., Toronto, ON 100% 282,946 282,946 90% Unisys, Financial Linx, CB Richard Ellis, RV Anderson

110 Yonge Street Toronto, ON 100% 149,059 149,059 90% a chartered bank, Public Works Canada

175 Bloor Street East Toronto, ON 100% 573,393 573,393 97% Molson, Leo Burnett,  Towers Perrin, Alliance Atlantis

2300 St. Laurent Blvd. Ottawa, ON 50% 37,500 18,750 100% Government of Canada

220 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, MB 50% 169,004 84,502 99% a chartered bank, Great-West Life Insurance

1200 Burrard Street Vancouver, BC 100% 68,966 68,966 94% a chartered bank, medical offices

1185 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC 100% 165,843 165,843 92% Canada Safeway, Fitness World

1508 West Broadway 2 Vancouver, BC 100% 82,284 82,284 99% Chapters, London Life Insurance, Sun Life Insurance

Total Office 3,033,636 2,813,019 94%

TOTAL ALL PROPERTIES 13,812,689 11,760,282 96%

1 Certain occupants are franchisees and the franchisor is not a party to the lease with the Trust (see “Properties Held by the Trust — Description of Properties Held by the Trust” 

in the Annual Information Form dated May 15, 2003). 
2 The Trust holds the property pursuant to a long-term ground lease.



PART 1
OVERVIEW OF THE BUSINESS

• CREIT was established in 1984 and became a real estate

investment trust in July 1993.

• CREIT’s investment strategy incorporates diversification by

geography and asset class. At the end of the year we were

underweighted in industrial (18% of 2003 net operating

income) and overweighted in office (34%). CREIT is

strategic in the design of the portfolio, but can also be

opportunistic, making acquisitions where it sees long-term

value. Our strategy is to achieve our diversification target

of 50% retail, 25% office and 25% industrial.

PART 2
PERFORMANCE IN 2003 AND 2002

• Same-asset rental revenue rose 2% to $136.0 million.

• $42.2 million was spent to purchase

a superior quality office retail

complex in Vancouver, part of 

the $77.9 million in 

acquisitions completed in 2003.

• Same-asset property expenses increased 5% in 2003,

reflecting higher costs for insurance, snow removal and

utilities. Same-asset realty taxes increased 4%. General

and administrative expenses rose 8% due to higher audit

fees and increases in directors and officers insurance and

the cost of financial reporting.

• The weighted average interest rate on outstanding debt

declined to 5.90% from 6.36% in 2002.

• Leasing costs rose dramatically, due primarily to a difficult

office sector.

• Distributable income per Unit rose 2% to $1.36
(diluted), within our targeted range of 2% to 4% 

annual growth.
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MD&A At-a-Glance

Industrial 18%

Retail 48%

Office 34%

This MD&A “at-a-glance” highlights a few of the more significant and informative items

that appear in the full MD&A, which follows on page 14. It does not attempt to provide 

a complete summary of CREIT’s strategies, business environment or performance.

Diversification by Asset Class
(percentage)

1508/1580 West Broadway
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PART 3
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

• The weighted average cost of mortgage debt fell to 6.32%

from 6.81% in 2002. The weighted average term to

maturity rose to 5.01 years from 4.2 years.

• Funds from operations per weighted average Unit rose to

$1.46 from $1.43 in 2002.

• CREIT’s indebtedness ratio declined to 52.1% from 53.1% in

2002. Our acquisition capacity was $86 million at year end

while future commitments totalled $44 million, including

$17.2 million for the construction of industrial buildings in

Calgary, Edmonton and Halifax.

PART 4
SUMMARY OF FOURTH QUARTER 2003 RESULTS

• Distributable income for the fourth quarter of 2003 was

$0.35 (diluted) compared to $0.34 a year earlier.

• Funds from operations per Unit (diluted) totalled $0.38

versus $0.37 in the same period in 2002.

PART 5
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

AND CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES

• Management incorporated a number of changes in

accounting policies in 2003, according to new requirements

and guidelines created by the Canadian Institute of

Chartered Accountants (see pages 45 to 46 of this report

for details).

• 2004 changes will include straight-line depreciation on

buildings (previously sinking fund) and straight-line rental

recognition (previously recognized when due).

PART 6
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

• CREIT faces a number of risks to its performance and 

has strategies in place to help manage these risks.

• We attempt to stagger the maturities of CREIT’s mortgage

portfolio evenly over a 10-year time horizon, implying a

target weighted average term to maturity of five years. 

We also attempt to stagger lease expiries so that a large

amount of leased space does not expire (and possibly

become vacant) in any one year. In 2004 leases on about

12.5% of our space are due to expire.

• No one tenant represents more than 2.7% of 

revenues, while the top 10 tenants account for about 

21% of revenues.

PART 7
OTHER AND OUTLOOK

• For 2004, Management is confident of delivering on its

goal of 2% to 4% year-over-year growth in distributable

income per Unit.

Funds from Operations
per Weighted Average Unit ($)

Average Cost of Mortgage Debt
(percentage)
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Results of Operations and Financial Condition
February 13, 2004

PART I
FORWARD-LOOKING DISCLAIMER

Management’s discussion and analysis of results of operations

and financial condition (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction

with CREIT’s financial statements for the years ended

December 31, 2003, December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001.

Historical results, including trends which might appear, should

not be taken as indicative of future operations or results.

Certain information in this MD&A may constitute “forward-

looking” statements which involve known and unknown risks,

uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the actual

results, performance or achievements of CREIT, or industry

results, to be materially different from any future results,

performance or achievements expressed or implied by such

forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements (which

involve significant risks and uncertainties and should not be

read as guarantees of future performance or results) include

statements related to acquisitions, development activities,

future maintenance and leasing expenditures, financing and

the availability of financing sources. Management believes that

the expectations reflected in forward-looking statements are

based upon reasonable assumptions; however, Management

can give no assurance that actual results will be consistent

with these forward-looking statements.

Without limiting the foregoing, the words “believe”, “expect”,

“anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate” and similar expressions

identify forward-looking statements.

Factors that could cause actual results, performance, or

achievements to differ materially from those expressed or

implied by forward-looking statements, include, but are not

limited to, general economic conditions, the availability of

new competitive supply of commercial real estate which may

become available either through construction or sublease,

CREIT’s ability to maintain occupancy and to timely lease or

release space at current or anticipated rents, tenant

bankruptcies, financial difficulties and defaults, changes in

interest rates, changes in operating costs, CREIT’s ability to

obtain adequate insurance coverage at a reasonable cost,

and the availability of financing.

These forward-looking statements are made as of February 12,

2004 and CREIT assumes no obligation to update or revise

them to reflect new events or circumstances.

OVERVIEW OF THE BUSINESS

CREIT was established in 1984 and became a real estate

investment trust (REIT) in July 1993.

CREIT’s primary business goal is to accumulate a portfolio

of high-quality real estate assets, and then deliver the benefits

of such real estate ownership to Unitholders. The primary

benefit is a reliable and, over time, increasing cash distribution.

The risk and reliability characteristics of real estate asset

classes are different, and delivering on the primary benefit

objectives requires a mix of assets that balances risks and

rewards, continuously improving the returns from the assets

currently owned and making quality acquisitions that are

accretive in the long-term.

CREIT owns and manages a diversified real estate portfolio of

office, industrial and retail properties throughout Canada and

in the Chicago, Illinois area. The portfolio’s 118 properties

contain 13.7 million square feet of leasable space, with

CREIT’s ownership interest at 11.8 million square feet.

CREIT’s retail portfolio is focused primarily on food-store-

anchored strip plazas and other unenclosed shopping

centres anchored by leading retailers on long-term leases.

CREIT owns a 100% interest in 27 retail properties,

comprising 2,482,000 square feet, and at least a 50%

interest in 15 retail properties. CREIT’s retail portfolio totals

4,068,000 square feet.

CREIT’s industrial portfolio is focused on distribution facilities,

buildings used for light manufacturing and/or “flex-space”

facilities of a size and configuration that will readily

accommodate the diverse needs of a broad range of business

tenants. CREIT owns a 100% interest in 59 industrial

properties and a 50% interest in one property. CREIT’s

industrial portfolio totals 4,879,000 square feet.
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CREIT’s office portfolio is focused on well-located, quality

office buildings in major Canadian markets. CREIT owns a

100% interest in 12 office buildings, comprising 2,438,000

square feet, and partial interests in four properties. CREIT’s

office portfolio totals 2,813,000 square feet.

CREIT’s overall investment strategy also incorporates

geographic diversification. The chart below outlines the

number of properties and square footage owned by CREIT

in each of its geographic markets.

STRATEGY

The cornerstones of CREIT’s strategy are an integrated

management structure, an asset base diversified both by

asset class and geographically and disciplined acquisitions in

accordance with a portfolio plan.

Management intends to achieve CREIT’s business goals by:

• Acquiring high-quality properties

• Focusing on property operations and delivering superior

service to tenants

• Managing properties to maintain high occupancies

• Increasing rental rates when market conditions permit

• Managing debt to obtain both an efficient cost and a

staggered debt maturity profile

• Disposing of, or redeveloping, non-core or

under-performing assets

CREIT’s Portfolio Mix Target Actual 1

Retail 50% 48%

Industrial 25% 18%

Office 25% 34%

1 Based upon property net operating income before inter-segment

adjustments, for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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Maritimes Quebec Ontario Prairies

Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s)

Retail 6 151 3 290 11 1,632 1 195

Industrial 15 720 2 211 16 1,712 — —

Office 3 457 2 616 7 1,338 1 85

24 1,328 7 1,117 34 4,682 2 280

Alberta B.C. U.S. Total

Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s)

Retail 12 710 8 913 1 177 42 4,068

Industrial 27 2,236 — — — — 60 4,879

Office — — 3 317 — — 16 2,813

39 2,946 11 1,230 1 177 118 11,760
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CREIT’s Retail Portfolio

Management’s goal is to position the real estate portfolio so that

50% of CREIT’s income is generated from “proprietary” retail

real estate. Proprietary means assets which are both the

“product of choice” for tenants, and assets that enjoy significant

barriers to entry from new competitive product. In this “niche”

sub-set of retail real estate, Management focuses on food-store-

anchored strip plazas and other unenclosed or “open-air”

centres anchored by leading retailers on long-term leases.

Characteristics of proprietary retail real estate include national

or high credit-worthy tenants on long-term leases, little if any

volatility over time in occupancy, limited income growth in the

short-to-mid-term, a low yield given the low investment risk

and a commensurate high cost or purchase price.

Management views the retail real estate portion of the

portfolio as the foundation to a reliable cash distribution.

Proprietary retail real estate, however, will not deliver the

income growth required to achieve our growth objectives

because many tenants are on long-term lease contracts with

minimal rental steps.

CREIT’s retail portfolio is currently not all proprietary in

nature; however, future acquisitions in this asset class will

focus on this type of retail asset.

The retail portfolio square footage, and year-end occupancy

over the past 10 years is outlined in the chart below. Occupancy

over time has remained very high with little volatility.
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(000’s) 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Retail sq.ft. 402 534 1,793 2,563 2,872 3,087 3,101 3,080 3,822 4,068

% Occupied 99 98 97 97 98 97 97 97 98 99
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CREIT’s Industrial Portfolio

Management’s goal is to position the portfolio such that 25%

of CREIT’s income is generated from distribution facilities,

buildings used for light manufacturing, and/or “flex-space”

facilities, of a size and configuration that will readily

accommodate the diverse needs of a broad range of tenants.

Such properties constitute CREIT’s industrial portfolio.

Management’s focus in this portion of the portfolio is on

high-quality “generic” product, located in target markets

where CREIT can build up critical mass, so as to enjoy

management efficiencies, and as well, to accommodate any

expansion or contraction requirements of the tenant base.

The term “generic” refers to product that is appealing to

a wide range of potential users, so that the leasing or

the releasing time frame (“lease cycle time”) is reduced.

Generic industrial real estate provides some degree of

reliability in occupancy; however, it has greater volatility than

proprietary retail product. Generic industrial product does,

however, offer reasonable income growth possibilities.

To create a “deal-flow” or acquisition pipeline for high-quality

industrial real estate product, and because it is a very

competitive acquisition environment, CREIT has recently

entered into several joint venture arrangements with regional

developers, whereby CREIT finances the development of

industrial properties and CREIT’s partner provides the

development and construction expertise.

The industrial portfolio square footage and year-end

occupancy over the past 10 years is outlined in the chart

below. Occupancy over time, although consistently high,

reflects greater volatility than CREIT’s retail portfolio.
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(000’s) 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Industrial sq.ft. 480 480 3,723 4,401 4,688 4,483 4,484 4,374 4,783 4,879

% Occupied 96 95 96 95 95 94 97 97 93 95



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

CREIT’s Office Portfolio

Management’s goal is to position the real estate portfolio such

that 25% of CREIT’s income is generated from office buildings.

Management’s focus is on large, well-located buildings in target

cities with an emphasis on acquiring at below-replacement cost,

so that CREIT is able to competitively compete on rental rates,

even in the face of new construction entering the marketplace.

Office is the most volatile of CREIT’s three asset classes, both

on occupancy and on rental rates. As a result, Management’s

aim is to seek an institutional partner for each of the office

assets, so that CREIT reduces its exposure to any one office

tenant. As the managing partner, CREIT’s overall returns are

enhanced through the generation of fee income from the

day-to-day management and leasing activities at these

properties. Given that our acquisition costs on a per square

foot of rentable area are generally well below the current

replacement cost, and given the prevailing rental markets,

management believes that CREIT’s office portfolio provides

significant long-term income growth potential.

The office portfolio square footage and year-end occupancy

over the past 10 years is outlined in the chart below. Occupancy

over time reflects greater volatility than retail or industrial.
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(000’s) 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Office sq.ft. — — 876 865 861 978 895 1,973 2,542 2,813

% Occupied — — 88 89 88 92 97 94 90 94

Historical Cash Distributions

The chart below summarizes the cash distribution per CREIT Unit, and the closing price of CREIT’s Units on The Toronto Stock

Exchange, on the last trading day of the year for the last 10 years. The chart also demonstrates the reliable and, over time,

increasing cash distribution.

($) 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Cash distribution per Unit 0.58 0.82 0.91 1.03 1.14 1.17 1.17 1.17 1.20 1.23

Closing price 8.00 9.38 12.90 12.70 10.55 10.95 11.45 12.71 13.13 15.97
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

During 2003, leasing markets and investment markets generally

were on divergent paths, with rental rates and occupancy levels

experiencing softness, while acquisition prices increased. The

strength in acquisition investment activity, given the softness in

the rental markets, is a function of risk adjusted returns being

quite favourable, in relative terms, in real estate.

Retail occupancies and rents have remained strong due to the

strength of consumer spending, and Management anticipates

that occupancies and rents will remain healthy in 2004

barring an economic downturn.

Industrial real estate occupancies and rental rates were

generally steady throughout 2003, with some localized

softness due to speculative construction and new product

coming on stream. The escalating Canadian dollar vis-à-vis the

U.S. dollar may result in the demise of certain manufacturers

and export operations. However, distribution and light

manufacturing, geared towards the local or national markets,

are the predominant use in CREIT’s industrial portfolio, and

Management anticipates that in 2004, CREIT’s industrial

portfolio should perform much the same as it did in 2003.

Office product has experienced and will continue to

experience pressures from reduced demand for space and

competition resulting from sub-let space. These trends are not

likely to revert or correct in the short-term. The softness,

however, has prevented any significant new product

development. Longer-term, given the lack of development,

office rental rates should experience significant growth, as

economic expansion absorbs the current excess capacity.

2003 witnessed low inflation and a low cost of debt environment

in comparison to recent history, which permitted CREIT to reduce

its interest expense and increase the average term to maturity of

its fixed term debt. The low interest rate environment has also

resulted in a more competitive acquisition environment, resulting

in higher asking prices for quality real estate product with

corresponding lower going-in returns. There currently do not

appear to be inflationary pressures; however, Management is of

the view that such inflationary pressures will surface during the

later part of 2004 as North American economies continue to

improve, which may result in an escalation in interest rates and

impact the asking prices for real estate product offered for sale.

KEY PERFORMANCE DRIVERS

There are numerous factors, many beyond Management’s control,

that affect CREIT’s ability to achieve its goals. These key

performance drivers are divided into internal and external factors.

Management believes that the key internal performance

drivers are:

• increasing occupancies by leasing up vacant space;

• increasing rental rates as market conditions permit;

• improving tenant service which should lead to higher

tenant retention; and

• reducing occupancy costs through achieving economies of

scale and diligently managing contracts.

Management believes that the key external performance

drivers are:

• the availability of new property acquisitions which fit into

CREIT’s portfolio plan;

• the availability of equity capital at a reasonable cost; and

• the availability of debt capital at a cost and on terms

conducive to CREIT’s goals.

The key performance indicators by which Management

measures CREIT’s performance are as follows:

• distributable income per Unit;

• funds from operations after provision for non-recoverable

items per Unit;

• “same-asset” net operating income;

• overall indebtedness level;

• weighted average cost of debt; and

• occupancy.

Management believes that its key performance measures allow

it to track progress towards the achievement of CREIT’s goals.
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PART II
SUMMARY ANNUAL INFORMATION

CREIT’s Summary of Selected Annual Information is presented below:

($000’s except per Unit amounts and other data) 2003 2002 2001

Gross revenues $ 190,950 $ 162,970 $ 129,842

Income before gain (loss) on disposition of property and income tax 60,740 52,358 35,447

Income before gain (loss) on disposition of property and income tax/Unit 1.19 1.16 0.94

Income before gain (loss) on disposition of property and income tax/Unit diluted 1.18 1.15 0.94

Net income 58,446 51,647 38,060

Net income/Unit 1.14 1.14 1.01

Net income/Unit diluted 1.14 1.14 1.01

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization 1 116,036 100,062 80,147

Funds from operations 2 74,618 64,929 46,178

Funds from operations/Unit 1.46 1.43 1.23

Funds from operations/Unit diluted 1.45 1.43 1.23

Funds from operations after provision for non-recoverable items 3 62,914 60,043 41,623

Funds from operations after provision for non-recoverable items/Unit 1.23 1.33 1.11

Funds from operations after provision for non-recoverable items/Unit diluted 1.22 1.32 1.10

Distributable income 4 69,956 60,529 46,964

Distributable income/Unit 1.37 1.34 1.25

Distributable income/Unit diluted 1.36 1.33 1.25

Cash distributions/Unit 1.23 1.20 1.17

Total assets 1,292,566 1,192,862 868,166

Total mortgage and bank debt 694,878 650,227 400,244

OTHER DATA (END OF YEAR)

Rentable square footage: — Retail 4,068,421 3,821,436 3,079,861

— Industrial 4,878,842 4,782,463 4,373,642

— Office 2,813,019 2,542,053 2,151,742

— Total 11,760,282 11,145,952 9,605,245

Occupancy %: — Retail 98.7% 97.6% 96.9%

— Industrial 94.6 93.4 96.7

— Office 94.1 89.8 93.1

— Total Occupancy 95.9% 94.0% 96.0%
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1 Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) is not a Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principle (GAAP) financial

measure and is presented because Management considers EBITDA to be one indicative measure of CREIT’s operating performance due to the significance of

CREIT’s real estate assets and the contractual nature of CREIT’s revenues, and because it can be used to measure CREIT’s ability to service debt, fund capital

needs and expand the business. EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to net income, cash flow from operations or any other operating or

liquidity measure prescribed by GAAP. EBITDA as calculated by CREIT may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other entities.

2003 2002 2001

Net Income $ 58,446 $ 51,647 $ 38,060

Add:

Termination of property management agreement — — 4,996

Income tax expense 2,561 — —

Loss (gain) on disposition of property (267) 711 (2,613)

Amortization of financing costs 991 1,135 733

Amortization of leasing costs 4,540 4,400 4,210

Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 138 — —

Amortization of value of above and below-market leases (16) — —

Amortization of recoverable maintenance costs 1,083 925 624

Amortization of non-recoverable maintenance costs 205 219 193

Depreciation 9,895 8,171 6,521

Mortgage and bank loan interest 38,460 32,854 27,423

EBITDA $ 116,036 $ 100,062 $ 80,147

2 See pages 33—34 for an explanation and reconciliation of funds from operations.

3 See pages 33—34 for an explanation and reconciliation of funds from operations after provision for non-recoverable items.

4 See page 29 for an explanation and reconciliation of distributable income.

Over the last three years total assets of CREIT have increased

considerably due to new property acquisitions, development

activities and mortgage investing. Accordingly, gross

revenues, EBITDA, funds from operations and distributable

income are all reflective of an increasing income-producing

asset base.

Further, CREIT has utilized a greater amount of debt in its

capital structure than it has in the past due to the low cost

of debt as compared to the cost of equity during this

3-year period.

Funds from operations per Unit, distributable income per Unit

and cash distributions per Unit have each increased over the

past three years, which reflects that investing activity, net of

the cost of financing the investments, has produced a positive

contribution on a per Unit basis during this period.
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PERFORMANCE IN 2003 AND 2002

Trends in Revenues

Total revenue for CREIT for the 12 months ended December 31,

2003 increased 17% to $191.0 million from $163.0 million

for 2002.

CREIT generates revenue from the following four sources:

1. Property rental revenue which includes a basic or net

rental rate paid by tenants for their premises, plus

reimbursements or recoveries from tenants for certain

property operating costs and realty taxes relating to those

premises and the common property area;

2. Interest income generated from mortgage investment

activity, and interest income from cash balances in CREIT’s

bank accounts;

3. Fee income, which includes property management fees,

leasing fees and project management fees relating to

certain co-owned properties. Fee income serves as a cash

flow supplement to enhance returns from co-owned assets,

and in the case of the office segment serves to offset a

portion of the anticipated volatility. The generation of fee

income is not viewed as a separate segmented business

activity; and

4. Lease termination income, which relates to payments

received from tenants who cancelled or terminated their

lease prior to the contractual expiry date.

C R E I T  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 3 2 3

PROPERTY RENTAL REVENUE
2003 2002 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%)

Same-asset rental revenue $ 135,973 $ 132,793 $ 3,180 2%

Acquisitions 51,078 26,262 24,816 94

Property rental revenue $ 187,051 $ 159,055 $ 27,996 18%

The majority of the increase in property rental revenue was

attributable to new acquisitions during 2003 and 2002.

Same-asset refers to those properties which were owned and

operated by CREIT for the entire 12 months ended December 31,

2003 and for the entire 12 months ended December 31, 2002

where such assets had no new development, re-development

or new construction occurring during this 24-month period.

Property rental revenue per occupied foot increased to

$17.33 in 2003 as compared to $16.36 in 2002.

Property rental revenue per occupied foot on a same-asset

basis increased to $15.64 in 2003 from $15.40 in 2002. This

is due primarily to the escalating operating costs and realty

tax expense for the properties and the reimbursement

to CREIT of such expenses by tenants of the property.
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Acquisition activity occurring over the past 24 months is outlined below.

2003 ACQUISITIONS
Acquisition Ownership

Cost Interest

Property Property Type Date Acquired Square Footage 1 ($ Millions) Acquired

801 St. Clair St., Chatham Retail Jan 28/03 114,532 $ 3.8 50.0%

1508,1580 West Broadway, Vancouver Office/Retail Jun 27/03 146,467 $ 42.2 100.0%

Lot 1104 Troop Avenue, Halifax Land Aug 26/03 N/A $ 0.7 100.0%

6290 Kestrel Rd., Mississauga Industrial Oct 3/03 40,549 $ 2.4 100.0%

690 Gana Court, Mississauga Industrial Oct 3/03 59,480 $ 3.4 100.0%

St. Albert Square, St. Albert 2 Land Oct 29/03 N/A $ 3.4 100.0%

Cornerstone Power Centre, Medicine Hat 2 Land Oct 29/03 N/A $ 4.6 100.0%

801 St. Clair St., Chatham 3 Land Dec 4/03 N/A $ 0.2 50.0%

209 Chain Lake Dr., Halifax Retail Dec 8/03 40,617 $ 6.1 50.0%

100 Alexis Nihon Blvd., Montreal 4 Office Dec 12/03 179,104 $ 11.1 62.5%

1 Square footage amounts represent CREIT’s share only.

2 CREIT acquired the land and consolidated the leasehold interest in the retail property already owned by CREIT into a freehold interest in the property.

3 Land acquired adjacent to 801 St. Clair Street. The additional land will help facilitate the redevelopment of the property.

4 With this acquisition CREIT now owns 100% of the property.

2002 ACQUISITIONS
Acquisition Ownership

Cost Interest

Property Property Type Date Acquired Square Footage 1 ($ Millions) Acquired

Valleyfield Business Centre, Calgary 2 Industrial/development Jan 17/02 224,782 $ 19.0 100.0%

Great Plains Business Centre, Calgary 3 Industrial/development Jun 1/02 182,516 $ 23.0 100.0%

175 Bloor St. East, Toronto Office July 3/02 573,484 $ 144.5 100.0%

Woodside Power Centre, Markham Retail Aug 15/02 162,901 $ 29.9 50.0%

Blue Bonnets Power Centre, Montreal Retail Aug 15/02 214,399 $ 17.6 50.0%

South Keys Shopping Centre, Ottawa Retail Aug 15/02 233,691 $ 40.6 50.0%

BayMac Shopping Centre,

Richmond Hill Retail Aug 15/02 122,647 $ 23.2 50.0%

Westridge Power Centre, Vaughan Retail Sep 20/02 173,582 $ 34.0 50.0%

1200 Burrard St., Vancouver 4 Land Aug 21/02 N/A $ 2.1 100.0%

City West Distribution Facility, Edmonton 5 Development Oct 10/02 — $ 8.8 100.0%

1 Square footage represents CREIT’s share only.

2 The property consists of a further 48,000 square feet currently under development and is anticipated to be income producing in 2004.

3 The property consists of a further 295,000 square feet currently under development and is anticipated to be income producing in 2004.

4 CREIT acquired the land and consolidated the leasehold interest in the office building already owned by CREIT into a freehold interest in the property.

5 The property is a 421,000 square foot development project and is anticipated to be income producing in 2004.
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INTEREST INCOME

Interest Income for the 12 months ended December 31, 2003 increased 38%, to $2.2 million, from $1.6 million in 2002.

The increase in interest income, due to additional mortgage investments, is summarized as follows:

2003 2002 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%)

Bank Interest $ 29 $ 30 $ (1) (3)%

Mortgage interest income 2,117 1,422 695 49

Other 34 124 (90) (73)

$ 2,180 $ 1,576 $ 604 38%

CREIT has $21.5 million invested in mortgages receivable, certain of which provide CREIT with an option to acquire an interest in

the underlying property. The following table summarizes CREIT’s mortgage investments at December 31, 2003.

Principal Maturity Interest Rate

Security ($ Millions) (%)

Hull Wal-Mart, Hull, PQ $ 2.2 Sept 30, 2004 12.0%

1280 Fanshawe Park Road and 1287 Hyde Park Road, London, ON 13.7 Aug 15, 2007 10.0

801 St. Clair Street, Chatham, ON 1.5 Jan 27, 2008 10.0

3075 & 3083 Highway #7 East, Markham, ON 2.3 July 3, 2006 10.0

3075 & 3083 Highway #7 East, Markham, ON 0.5 June 26, 2006 7.0

Eastgate Industrial Centre, Calgary, AB 1.3 Demand 9.0

Total $ 21.5 10.1%

FEE INCOME

Fee income increased 86% to $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 from $0.6 million during 2002. This increase was

due to the number of new co-ownership arrangements entered into during this 24-month period, and because of the variable

nature of transaction-based leasing and project management fees.

2003 2002 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%)

Property management fees $ 908 $ 562 $ 346 62%

Leasing fees 168 69 99 143

Project management fees 122 13 109 838

$ 1,198 $ 644 $ 554 86%

LEASE TERMINATION INCOME

Lease termination income was $0.5 million for 2003 as compared to $1.7 million for 2002. Lease termination income is normal in

the real estate industry but such income is not predictable, and for the year-over-year decline, is not indicative of a trend.
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Trends in Expenses

PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES

Total property operating expenses increased 17%, to $30.1 million, for the 12 months ended December 31, 2003 from $25.8 million

in 2002.

2003 2002 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%)

Same-asset property $ 23,100 $ 22,025 $ 1,075 5%

Acquisitions 6,984 3,771 3,213 85

$ 30,084 $ 25,796 $ 4,288 17%

On a same-asset basis, the property operating expense increased 5% year-over-year and such increase exceeds the general

consumer price index change of 2%.

REALTY TAX

The realty tax expense increased 22%, to $36.4 million, for the 12 months ended December 31, 2003 from $29.9 million in 2002.

2003 2002 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%)

Same-asset property $ 25,606 $ 24,651 $ 955 4%

Acquisitions 10,806 5,215 5,591 107

$ 36,412 $ 29,866 $ 6,546 22%

2 6 C R E I T  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 3

INCREASES IN SAME-ASSET PROPERTY OPERATING COSTS

The increase in same-asset property expenses are primarily

attributed to increases in property insurance, snow removal

costs and utility costs.

As a result of the terrorist acts of September 11, 2001, CREIT

realized increased costs for property insurance. Management

believes these increased insurance costs will remain higher

than such costs incurred in previous periods for the

foreseeable future.

Snow removal costs increased for 2003 over 2002,

particularly in Western Canada. Costs incurred are related to

the severity of the weather conditions and are not predictable

and are not necessarily indicative of a trend.

Utility costs, in particular natural gas for the office portfolio

increased in 2003 over 2002, due to the increased occupancy

levels and an increase in the underlying price of the commodity.

To help mitigate this variance in the future, Management has

entered into longer-term contracts at fixed prices.

On a same-asset basis, realty tax expense increased 4%

year-over-year. Realty tax is the primary source of revenue for

most municipalities and the year-over-year increase exceeds

the general consumer price index change of 2%. Certain

municipalities have moved towards market value assessment

over the past number of years, and Montreal amalgamated

the realty tax and the business tax during 2003 both of which

resulted in increased realty taxes to property owners.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

PROPERTY ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Property administrative expenses relate to personnel,

premises, and administrative costs of CREIT’s regional

property management offices and to personnel, premises,

and information systems in relation to the head office support

for CREIT’s nation-wide real estate operations.

Property administrative expenses increased 20% to

$6.5 million for the 12 months ended December 31, 2003 from

$5.4 million in 2002. These expenses have increased due to

increased property management and leasing staff

requirements resulting from significant portfolio growth over

the last few years and due to commensurate staffing increases

in accounting, information systems, human resources,

acquisitions and business analyses, as well as overall

compensation increases. Barring significant new acquisition

activity, management expects these expenses will reflect only

inflationary and competitive pressures in future periods.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

General and administrative expenses increased 8% to

$1.7 million for the 12 months ended December 31, 2003 from

$1.6 million in 2002, due to increases in audit fees, director

and officers insurance premiums and compliance filing fees.

Given the changing continuous disclosure and reporting

requirements applicable to public entities like CREIT, it is

reasonable to conclude these costs will continue to escalate

by rates exceeding general inflation.

MORTGAGE AND BANK LOAN INTEREST

Mortgage and bank loan interest increased 17% to

$38.5 million for the 12 months ended December 31, 2003

from $32.9 million in 2002. This period-over-period change

is due to the utilization of a larger amount of debt to fund

acquisition activities with such increased debt levels off-set

by a lower average cost of debt.
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Key Performance Indicator

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, CREIT’s weighted average cost of debt was as follows:

2003 2002 Change

Mortgage debt 6.32% 6.81% 0.49%

Bank operating facilities 3.86% 4.28% 0.42%

Total cost of debt 5.90% 6.36% 0.46%

DEPRECIATION

CREIT depreciates its buildings on a 5%, 40-year sinking fund basis. Under this method, depreciation is charged to income at an

amount which increases annually so as to fully depreciate buildings over a 40-year estimated useful life.

2003 2002 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%)

Same-asset property $ 7,218 $ 6,871 $ 347 5%

Acquisitions 2,677 1,300 1,377 106

$ 9,895 $ 8,171 $ 1,724 21%
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AMORTIZATION

RECOVERABLE DEFERRED MAINTENANCE

The year-over-year increase is due to increasing levels of

recoverable deferred maintenance projects over the past 

24 months, resulting in additional amortization.

NON-RECOVERABLE DEFERRED MAINTENANCE

The year-over-year change is negligible owing to small

expenditures on such items over the past 24 months.

LEASING COSTS

Leasing cost expenditures increased dramatically for 2003

over 2002 and 44% of the total expenditures for 2003 were

incurred during the fourth quarter. The increase in

expenditure is due primarily to the office sector which

witnessed a downturn in 2003, resulting in decreasing rental

rates and larger leasing cost requirements. Amortization of

leasing costs for the 12 months ended December 31, 2003

increased 3% to $4.5 million.

AMORTIZATION OF LEASING COSTS ON ACQUISITION OF PROPERTIES

Pursuant to CICA Handbook sections 1581 and 3062, for

acquisitions of property after September 12, 2003, the

acquisition cost is allocated to land, building, tenant

improvements and intangibles. (Refer to Part V “Changes

in Accounting Policies”.) Amortization of leasing costs on

acquisitions of properties has been separately disclosed from

ongoing operating activities.

FINANCING COSTS

Amortization of financing costs decreased to $1.0 million in

2003 from $1.1 million in 2002 due to spending in prior

periods becoming fully amortized and approximately 36% of

expenditures for 2003 occurring in the fourth quarter and

therefore reflecting less than a full year of amortization.

GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY

The gain on disposition of property during 2003 relates to the

sale of 3.21 acres of unutilized land at the Wal-Mart property

in Hull, Quebec, which was sold for a gain of $0.3 million at

CREIT’s 50.1% ownership interest.

In 2002 CREIT sold London Village, a 67,000 square foot retail

property located in Vancouver, British Columbia for a price of

$11.0 million and a resultant loss on sale of $0.7 million.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

During 2003, CREIT refinanced the mortgage on its U.S.

property. As a result, the full deductibility of interest expense

in respect of the mortgage was no longer permitted for U.S.

tax purposes.

Also during 2003, CREIT incorporated a new Illinois company

and transferred, on a tax-deferred basis, its property into this

wholly-owned subsidiary. By isolating the investment and the

related mortgage debt in one entity CREIT has maximized the

interest deductibility for U.S. tax purposes.

CREIT now accounts for future income tax costs or liabilities

resulting from the subsidiary’s deductible or taxable

temporary differences pursuant to the Canadian Institute of

Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook section 3465.
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DISTRIBUTABLE INCOME

Distributable income (DI) is not a measure defined by GAAP and

there is no standardized measure of determining distributable

income. DI, as presented, may not be comparable to similar

measures presented by other real estate investment trusts.

Management considers DI to be an indicative measure of

CREIT’s overall operating performance due to Management’s

belief that commercial real estate, if properly maintained and

managed, should generally not depreciate predictably over

time. Improvement in DI per Unit is one of Management’s key

performance indicators.
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($000’s except per Unit amounts) 2003 2002 Change

Net income for the year $ 58,446 $ 51,647 $ 6,799

Add:

Depreciation 9,895 8,171 1,724

(Gain) Loss on disposition of property (267) 711 (978)

Future income tax expense 1,882 — 1,882

Distributable income $ 69,956 $ 60,529 $ 9,427

Weighted average number of Units 51,240 45,295 —

Diluted weighted average number of Units 51,439 45,457 —

Basic DI per Unit $ 1.37 $ 1.34 $ 0.03

Diluted DI per Unit $ 1.36 $ 1.33 $ 0.03

Distributions paid per Unit $ 1.23 $ 1.20 $ 0.03

Distributions paid as a percent of DI 90% 89% —

Key Performance Indicator

DI per Unit increased 2% to $1.37 for 2003, which is within the range of 2%—4% growth which Management anticipates in a

normal operating environment.



Industrial Sector

Industrial Assets 2003 2002

($000’s) Same-Asset Acquisition Total Same-Asset Acquisition Total

Property rental revenue $ 28,001 $ 3,627 $ 31,628 $ 26,845 $ 2,675 $ 29,520

Property operating expenses 3,575 304 3,879 3,435 214 3,649

Realty tax 4,959 554 5,513 4,605 339 4,944

Property management fees 934 150 1,084 899 111 1,010

Amortization non-recoverable 
deferred maintenance 83 — 83 90 — 90

Amortization recoverable 
deferred maintenance 373 — 373 337 — 337

Property net operating income $ 18,077 $ 2,619 $ 20,696 $ 17,479 $ 2,011 $ 19,490

Total net operating income in the retail sector increased 17% to

$54.3 million in 2003 from $46.3 million in 2002. This increase

is due to acquisition activity during the past 24-month period.

Key Performance Indicator

On a same-asset basis, the retail sector net operating income

remained flat which was consistent with expectations as

outlined under the section entitled “Strategy”. Average

occupancy in the same-asset retail properties was 97.9% in

2003 as compared to 97.8% in 2002.

On a same-asset basis, net operating income per occupied

foot declined slightly to $13.54 from $13.61 in 2002. The

decline is attributed to increases in snow removal costs,

property insurance and realty tax attributed to vacant space

and therefore not recovered or reimbursed, as well as an

increase year-over-year in the bad debt expense resulting

from tenant lease defaults.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition
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SEGMENTED INFORMATION

CREIT invests in three commercial real estate asset classes for strategic reasons, as outlined in Part I. Management measures the

performance of the commercial real estate assets on the basis of net operating income and, in particular, same-asset net

operating income, which isolates Management’s success at dealing with the key internal performance factors and indicators.

Retail Sector

Retail Assets 2003 2002

($000’s) Same-Asset Acquisition Total Same-Asset Acquisition Total

Property rental revenue $ 58,112 $ 22,713 $ 80,825 $ 57,245 $ 10,810 $ 68,055

Property operating expenses 6,585 1,791 8,376 5,956 803 6,759

Realty tax 10,911 4,584 15,495 10,686 2,009 12,695

Property management fees 1,752 623 2,375 1,726 328 2,054

Amortization non-recoverable 
deferred maintenance 40 12 52 44 13 57

Amortization recoverable 
deferred maintenance 257 — 257 229 — 229

Property net operating income $ 38,567 $ 15,703 $ 54,270 $ 38,604 $ 7,657 $ 46,261
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Office Sector

Office Assets 2003 2002

($000’s) Same-Asset Acquisition Total Same-Asset Acquisition Total

Property rental revenue $ 49,860 $ 24,738 $ 74,598 $ 48,703 $ 12,777 $ 61,480

Property operating expenses 12,842 4,889 17,731 12,418 2,754 15,172

Realty tax 9,736 5,668 15,404 9,360 2,867 12,227

Property management fees 1,762 838 2,600 1,732 447 2,179

Amortization non-recoverable 
deferred maintenance 37 33 70 39 33 72

Amortization recoverable 
deferred maintenance 387 97 484 295 71 366

Property net operating income $ 25,096 $ 13,213 $ 38,309 $ 24,859 $ 6,605 $ 31,464

Total net operating income increased 6% to $20.7 million in

2003 from $19.5 million in 2002.

Approximately 50% of the annual improvement is attributed

to acquisition activity with the balance due to improvements

in same-asset performance.

Key Performance Indicator

On a same-asset basis, net operating income improved 3% due

primarily to an increase in average occupancy to 93.2% in

2003 as compared to 92.7% in 2002.

Net operating income per occupied foot on a same-asset basis

increased 3% to $4.42 in 2003 from $4.31 in 2002.

The industrial sector experienced significant increases in snow

removal costs, property insurance and realty tax. Increases in

property expenses, to the extent such costs are not recovered

or reimbursed by tenants due to vacancy, have a detrimental

impact on net operating income.

Total net operating income in the office sector increased 22% to

$38.3 million in 2003 from $31.5 million in 2002 due primarily

to acquisition activity in this sector over the past 24 months.

Office markets had been soft during 2003 with most cities in

Canada experiencing declining occupancies and declining

rental rates on new and renewal lease transactions.

Royal LePage Commercial Inc., in their fourth quarter 2003

National Office market overview, indicated that the national

average net office rent was $13.19 per square foot at the end

of 2003, as compared to $14.57 the previous year,

representing a 9% decline, and that the national office

vacancy in the fourth quarter of 2003 was 11.6%.

CREIT has performed significantly better than the national

averages in the same-asset office portfolio occupancy.

Key Performance Indicator

Net operating income increased 1% on a same-asset basis

to $25.1 million in 2003 from $24.9 million in 2002, due to

an increase in average occupancy to 93.2% in 2003 from

92.6% in 2002.

Net operating income per occupied foot on a same-asset basis

declined 1% to $14.27 in 2003 from $14.36 in 2002 due to

declining market rents on new and renewal lease transactions

and from escalating costs for property insurance, natural gas and

realty tax expenses, which are not recovered on vacant space.
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PART III
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As outlined in Overview of the Business, CREIT strives

to deliver to Unitholders a reliable and, over time, growing

cash distribution.

CREIT’s Declaration of Trust stipulates that the Trust will

distribute at least 90% of its distributable income unless the

Board of Trustees determines that it would be in the best

interests of the Trust to distribute a lesser amount.

Cash flow generated from operating the portfolio represents

the primary source of liquidity to service debt, to fund

deferred maintenance and leasing costs and to fund

distributions on Units.

Cash flow from operations is dependent upon occupancy

levels of properties owned, rental rates achieved, collectability

of rent, efficiencies built into leases, efficiencies in operations

and the costs involved to lease or renew tenant space as well

as other factors.

CREIT’s cash distribution policy reflects the strategy of

maintaining a relatively constant debt level as a percentage of

total adjusted assets. Accordingly, CREIT does not repay

maturing debt from cash flow, but with proceeds from

refinancing such debt or financing unencumbered properties,

and raises new equity by issuing Units or “recycles” equity

through property dispositions to finance new acquisition or

investment activities.

DEBT REPAYMENT SUMMARY

Management attempts to stagger the maturity of CREIT’s debt

with the objective of achieving relative, even, annual

maturities over a 10-year time horizon.

This implies a target average term to maturity of five years.

This strategy reduces CREIT’s exposure to interest rate

fluctuations in any one period. From time to time CREIT will

assume existing debt upon the acquisition of income property

and the maturity of such debt may not fit within the overall

target debt maturity profile of CREIT. Realignment towards the

target profile is anticipated to occur upon the refinancing of

these mortgages.

The table below outlines CREIT’s mortgage maturity

schedule together with the weighted average interest on

the debt maturing.
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Periodic Percent Weighted

Amortized Principal on Total of Total Average

Principal Maturity Principal Principal Interest Rate

Year ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) (%)

2004 $ 14,324 $ 67,987 $ 82,311 14% 6.17%

2005 14,261 47,563 61,824 11 6.66

2006 12,251 78,298 90,549 16 6.24

2007 11,156 66,365 77,521 13 6.36

2008 9,650 11,975 21,625 4 6.43

Thereafter 30,736 213,188 243,924 42 6.29

$ 92,378 $ 485,376 $ 577,754 100% 6.32%
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Key Performance Indicator

The weighted average cost of mortgage debt decreased from

6.81% at December 31, 2002 to 6.32% at December 31, 2003,

and the weighted average term to maturity increased to

5.01 years from 4.2 years.

Part of CREIT’s debt strategy involves having a sufficient

amount of mortgage debt maturing each year such that

Management is in a position to attempt to upward refinance

the principal amount of such maturing debt (current market

parameters are in the range of 65%—75% of the appraised

market value of the underlying property asset) so as to fund

the periodic amortized principal payments due on the

portfolio mortgage debt in that particular year. The success

of this strategy is dependant upon debt market parameters

existing at the time as well as the particular features and

quality of the underlying assets being financed in the period.
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DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE
($000’s) 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter

Periodic amortized principal payments $ 14,324 $ 14,261 $ 12,251 $ 11,156 $ 9,650 $ 30,736

Mortgage due on maturity 67,987 47,563 78,298 66,365 11,975 213,188

Bank operating facilities 117,124 — — — — —

$ 199,435 $ 61,824 $ 90,549 $ 77,521 $ 21,625 $ 243,924

CREIT’s bank operating facilities, drawn to $ 1 17.1 million at

December 31, 2003, consists of a revolving 1-year facility

limited to $150 million, and is secured by a first charge over

57 of CREIT’s properties. Management does not anticipate any

difficulty in renewing the bank loan, and refinancing the

mortgage due on maturity.

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

Funds from operations (FFO) is a non-GAAP financial measure

and should not be considered as an alternative to net income,

cash flow from operations or any other operating or liquidity

measure prescribed under GAAP. FFO as presented may not

be comparable to similar measures presented by other real

estate investment trusts.

Management considers FFO to be an indicative measure of

CREIT’s cash generating activities.

Management considers FFO after provision for non-recoverable

items to be an indicative measure of CREIT’s cash generating

activities after providing for operating requirements.

Commercial real estate is a capital-intensive business. CREIT is

continuously investing in leasing costs for new and renewing

lease transactions and in the ongoing repair and maintenance

of its property portfolio.

The majority of repair and maintenance items are recoverable

from tenants pursuant to the terms of their leases either in

the year such expenditure is incurred, or in the case of a
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major item of repair, maintenance or replacement on a

straight-line basis over the expected useful life. Management

views such expenditures as an investing activity.

Certain repair and maintenance items are not recoverable

from tenants and are either expensed in the year incurred, or

in the case of a major item of repair, maintenance, or

replacement, amortized on a straight-line basis over the

expected useful life of such repair or replacement.

CREIT also incurs costs relating to securing new and renewal

debt. Costs include items such as appraisal fees, legal fees,

physical and environmental inspections and various

processing and lender fees. Such costs are deferred and

amortized over the term of the respective debt.

Management strives to create a balance whereby the capital

for items of a non-recoverable nature (leasing costs, financing

costs, and major repair and maintenance items not recoverable

from tenants) is roughly equal to the amortization of such

items. Management refers to this as being “self-funded”.

As a result of CREIT’s large acquisition activities over the

past few years, for the next several years spending of a

non-recoverable nature related to these acquisitions will

exceed amortization.
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FFO and FFO after provision for items of a non-recoverable operating nature are calculated as follows:

($000’s except per Unit amounts) 2003 2002 Change

Net income for the year $ 58,446 $ 51,647 $ 6,799

Add:

Depreciation 9,895 8,171 1,724

Amortization of leasing costs 4,540 4,400 140

Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 138 — 138

Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (16) — (16)

(Gain) loss on disposition of property (267) 711 (978)

Future income tax expense 1,882 — 1,882

Funds from operations (FFO) 74,618 64,929 9,689

Add:

Amortization of non-recoverable deferred maintenance 205 219 (14)

Amortization of financing costs 991 1,135 (144)

75,814 66,283 9,531

Deduct:

Deferred leasing costs (11,438) (5,078) (6,360)

Deferred non-recoverable deferred maintenance (136) (79) (57)

Deferred financing costs (1,326) (1,083) (243)

FFO after provision for non-recoverable items $ 62,914 $ 60,043 $ 2,871

FFO per weighted average Unit $ 1.46 $ 1.43 $ 0.03

FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per weighted average Unit $ 1.23 $ 1.33 $ (0.10)

Cash distributions per Unit $ 1.23 $ 1.20 $ 0.03

Key Performance Indicator

The change in FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per Unit is due primarily to the large year-over-year increase in

leasing costs.
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LEASING COSTS

The square footage of leasing activity, per asset class

witnessed little change, year-over-year, as indicated below:

Square Footage

Leased (000’s) 2003 2002 Change

Retail 199 210 (11)

Industrial 1,162 1,297 (135)

Office 550 491 59

1,911 1,998 (87)

Leasing costs per square foot, however, increased dramatically,

as indicated below:

Leasing Cost

per Sq.Ft. Leased 2003 2002 Change

Retail $ 7.30 $ 6.62 $ 0.68

Industrial 1.76 1.07 0.69

Office 14.42 4.67 9.75

$ 5.99 $ 2.54 $ 3.45

Leasing Cost 84 month 1

per Sq.Ft. Leased 2003 average cost Change

Retail $ 7.30 $ 10.02 $ (2.72)

Industrial 1.76 1.39 0.37

Office 14.42 8.96 5.46

Average $ 5.99 $ 3.68 $ 2.31

1 84-month (7 years) average covers the historical time frame over which

management has collected and retained this information.

There is a large degree of variance in deferred leasing cost

expenditures from transaction to transaction, which is

dependent upon the lease expiry schedule, the asset type or

class and prevailing market conditions. The need for demising

walls, heating, ventilating and air conditioning work, other

base building requirements, new leasing activity versus lease

renewals, the type of asset, the tenant quality, and building

class (central business district or suburban) are all

contributing factors to the cost of a lease transaction.

CREIT acquired class A office buildings during 2002 and 2001

in Halifax, Montreal, and Toronto, while prior to 2001 had

little investment in class A office product. These assets,

because of their location, quality, and tenant composition,

require larger dollar expenditures per square foot than

witnessed in CREIT’s historical experience. Also, office assets

experienced market pressures which caused increases in

leasing transaction costs during 2003.

INDEBTEDNESS

By its Declaration of Trust CREIT is limited to an overall

indebtedness ratio of 60%. Indebtedness ratio is defined as

debt divided by total adjusted assets (total assets plus

accumulated depreciation).

Notwithstanding this, Management’s target “operating level”

of indebtedness is 55%.

Key Performance Indicator

($000’s) 2003 2002

Total assets $ 1,292,566 $ 1,192,862

Accumulated depreciation 41,506 32,421

Total adjusted assets $ 1,334,072 $ 1,225,283

Bank loan $ 117,124 $ 117,013

Mortgages payable 577,754 533,214

Total indebtedness $ 694,878 $ 650,227

Indebtedness ratio 52.1% 53.1%

CREIT’s acquisition capacity, meaning the ability to fund, from

debt, future commitments or acquire new properties while

maintaining and not exceeding Management’s target level of

indebtedness, is $86 million.

CREIT’s current estimated commitments towards the

development of expansion lands (intensification projects),

costs to complete development projects, redevelopment

projects initiated and those scheduled for future periods, and

further mortgage advances under the mortgage lending

program is $44.0 million.

Management believes that CREIT has sufficient unused bank

loan availability, together with un-levered or under-levered

assets, to fund these future commitments.
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CREIT’s future commitments, and the estimated timing of these commitments, are outlined in the schedule below:

COMMITMENTS
($000’s) 2004 2005 Beyond Total

Industrial developments $ 17,186 $ — $ — $ 17,186

Retail intensification 4,690 — — 4,690

Redevelopment 5,736 3,862 — 9,598

Future advances under mortgages receivable 9,041 3,515 — 12,556

Total $ 36,653 $ 7,377 $ — $ 44,030
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INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENTS

CREIT has entered into various arrangements with an

Alberta-based developer to facilitate CREIT’s strategy as it

relates to acquiring industrial real estate product. CREIT has

approximately 760,000 square feet of new industrial

buildings under construction in Calgary and Edmonton,

Alberta, which are anticipated to become income-producing

at various stages throughout 2004. Additional funds

required, over and above the $35.6 million advanced to date

under this program, are estimated to be $15.2 million.

Management anticipates the un-leveraged yield will be 9.6%

upon completion of these projects.

CREIT has committed to the construction of a 66,000 square

foot industrial building in Halifax, Nova Scotia. Additional

funds required, over and above the $2.6 million advanced to

date for the project, are estimated to be $1.9 million.

Management anticipates the un-leveraged yield will be 9.0%

upon completion of the project in the summer of 2004.

RETAIL INTENSIFICATION

CREIT is currently involved in numerous initiatives to

construct added density on existing assets, which are

co-owned with a retail developer. Projects under construction,

or in the pre-construction stage, total 126,000 square feet

(63,000 square feet for CREIT’s ownership interest).

A 36,000 square foot addition at one of the properties,

originally targeted for 2004, has been removed from the

pre-construction plan. Additional funds required, over and

above the $2.7 million advanced to date, for the intensification

projects are estimated to be $4.7 million. Management

estimates the un-leveraged yield will be 16.0% upon

completion of the projects.

REDEVELOPMENT

London Town Square located in Calgary, Alberta is being

redeveloped to create a much improved asset and to enhance

the reliability of its cash flow. Additional funds required, over

and above the $5.2 million advanced to date, are estimated to

be $1.5 million.

801 St. Clair Street, located in Chatham, Ontario, a 50%

co-ownership with a retail developer, is expected to be

redeveloped in 2004 and 2005.

FUTURE ADVANCES UNDER MORTGAGES RECEIVABLE

CREIT is committed to advance a further $4.5 million towards

a retail development of approximately 34,000 square feet

at 3075 & 3083 Highway #7 East in Markham, Ontario.

Management anticipates advancing these funds at varying

times throughout 2004 as the development progresses.

CREIT is committed to advance a further $8.1 million towards

the acquisition of industrial lands located in Calgary, Alberta.

CREIT will subordinate its position to a construction lender to

facilitate the development of new industrial real estate as

construction commences.
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PART IV SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
($000’s except per Unit and Other Data) 2003 2002

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Gross revenues $ 50,098 $ 47,144 $ 46,448 $ 47,260 $ 46,638 $ 44,201 $ 35,837 $ 36,294

Income before gain 
(loss) on disposition 
and income tax 16,329 15,372 15,011 14,028 13,917 14,412 12,112 11,917

Income before gain 
(loss) on disposition 
and income tax/Unit1 0.31 0.30 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.30 0.28 0.28

Income before gain 
(loss) on disposition 
and income tax/
Unit diluted 1 0.31 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.29 0.30 0.28 0.28

Net income 15,933 13,772 14,826 13,915 13,206 14,412 12,112 11,917

Net income/Unit 0.31 0.26 0.29 0.28 0.28 0.30 0.28 0.28

Net income/Unit diluted 0.30 0.26 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.30 0.28 0.28

Earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation, 
and amortization 1 30,573 29,324 28,392 27,747 28,459 27,470 22,133 22,000

Funds from operations 19,771 19,010 18,419 17,418 17,504 17,614 14,932 14,879

Funds from 
operations/Unit 0.38 0.37 0.35 0.36 0.37 0.37 0.35 0.35

Funds from operations/
Unit diluted 0.38 0.36 0.35 0.36 0.37 0.37 0.35 0.35

Funds from operations 
after provision for non-
recoverable items 14,397 16,544 15,940 16,033 15,190 16,640 13,582 14,631

Funds from operations 
after provision for non-
recoverable items/Unit 0.28 0.32 0.31 0.33 0.32 0.35 0.32 0.34

Funds from operations 
after provision for non-
recoverable items/
Unit diluted 0.27 0.32 0.31 0.33 0.32 0.35 0.32 0.34

Distributable income 18,519 17,816 17,261 16,360 16,261 16,594 13,940 13,734

Distributable 
income/Unit 0.36 0.34 0.33 0.33 0.34 0.35 0.33 0.32

Distributable income/
Unit diluted 0.35 0.34 0.33 0.33 0.34 0.35 0.32 0.32

Cash distributions/Unit 0.3075 0.3075 0.3075 0.3075 0.3050 0.3000 0.2975 0.2925

Total assets 1,292,566 1,255,062 1,252,818 1,206,737 1,192,862 1,191,980 944,900 867,798

Total mortgage and 
bank debt 694,878 664,936 658,744 612,048 650,227 651,731 413,723 397,277

OTHER DATA
(END OF PERIOD)

Rentable Sq.Ft.:
Retail 4,068,421 3,982,041 3,969,496 3,925,257 3,821,436 3,821,876 3,079,517 3,079,624

Industrial 4,878,842 4,782,795 4,782,632 4,782,354 4,782,463 4,786,676 4,781,203 4,598,068

Office 2,813,019 2,630,291 2,626,255 2,544,161 2,542,053 2,547,616 1,977,756 1,977,039

Total 11,760,282 11,395,127 11,378,383 11,251,772 11,145,952 11,156,168 9,838,476 9,654,731

Occupancy %:

Retail 98.7% 98.5% 98.2% 98.1% 97.6% 97.2% 96.7% 96.7%

Industrial 94.6 93.1 94.0 93.1 93.4 93.3 92.3 93.3

Office 94.1 93.0 91.0 91.1 89.8 92.0 91.7 92.5

Total 95.9% 95.0% 94.8% 94.4% 94.0% 94.3% 93.5% 94.2%

1
During the third quarter branch-level interest tax in an amount of $298,000 was reclassified from a property operating expense to an income tax expense during 2003. $185,000 of

such reclassification relates to the second quarter of 2003, and $113,000 of such reclassification relates to the first quarter of 2003. The quarterly results for the second and first

quarters have been revised to reflect the reclassification.
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Commercial real estate operations are generally not subject to

seasonal influences, but are impacted by economic events and

cycles (local, national and international) which influences the

demand for space. Factors such as consumer spending, or

employment growth, are examples of events which will impact

commercial real estate.

The summary of quarterly results therefore is free from

underlying seasonal variations and reflects activities

occurring in the periods presented.

The quarterly information highlights the increasing total assets

over the eight quarters, and is reflective of the timing of

acquisition, development, mortgage investing, and deferred leasing

and maintenance expenditures. Similarly, mortgage and bank debt

reflects financing activities relating to both asset additions and

ongoing financing activities for the existing portfolio.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization,

funds from operations and distributable income are all

showing generally consistent and growing performance on a

sequential basis.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

FOURTH QUARTER RESULTS

Consolidated Statements of Income

($000’s except per Unit amounts) Three months ended December 31 2003 2002

REVENUES

Property rental revenue $ 48,726 $ 45,643

Interest income 555 488

Fee income 429 222

Lease termination income 388 285

50,098 46,638

EXPENSES

Property operating expenses 8,132 7,902

Amortization of recoverable deferred maintenance 259 286

Amortization of non-recoverable deferred maintenance 51 53

Realty tax 9,200 8,552

Property administrative expenses 1,732 1,339

General and administrative 391 324

Property management fees 54 62

Mortgage and bank loan interest 9,923 10,276

Depreciation 2,518 2,344

Amortization of leasing costs 1,130 1,243

Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 138 —

Amortization of financing costs 241 340

33,769 32,721

INCOME BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED 16,329 13,917

GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY — (711)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSES 16,329 13,206

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current 328 —

Future 68 —

396 —

NET INCOME $ 15,933 $ 13,206
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During the fourth quarter of 2003, CREIT acquired $31.1 million of real estate assets, as follows:
Acquisition Estimated

Cost Year 1 Income

Property Property Type Date Acquired Square Footage ($ Millions) ($ Millions)

6290 Kestrel Rd., Mississauga Industrial Oct 03/03 40,549 $ 2.4 $ 0.2

690 Gana Court, Mississauga Industrial Oct 03/03 59,480 $ 3.3 $ 0.3

St. Albert Square, St. Albert 1 Land Oct 29/03 N/A $ 3.4 $ 0.3

Cornerstone Power Centre 1 Land Oct 29/03 N/A $ 4.6 $ 0.4

801 St. Clair St., Chatham 2 Land Dec 04/03 N/A $ 0.2 —

209 Chain Lake Drive, Halifax 3 Retail Dec 08/03 40,617 $ 6.1 $ 0.6

100 Alexis Nihon Blvd., Montreal 4 Office Dec 12/03 179,104 $ 11.1 $ 1.4

1 CREIT acquired the land and consolidated the leasehold interest in the retail property already owned by CREIT into a freehold interest in the property. Income

results from eliminating the former ground lease payments.

2 Land acquired adjacent to the retail property already owned by CREIT. The additional land will help facilitate the redevelopment of the property.

3 50% interest in the property acquired. CREIT will manage the property and CREIT’s co-owner has the leasing mandate for the property.

4 CREIT acquired the 62.5% interest in the property which it did not already own.

Net income for the fourth quarter of 2003 was $15.9 million

as compared to $13.2 million for the fourth quarter of 2002.

Net income before gain (loss) on disposition of property and

income tax was $16.3 million for the fourth quarter of 2003

as compared to $13.9 million for 2002. Income tax expense

recorded during the fourth quarter of 2003 included $328,000

current tax and $68,000 relating to future income tax expense.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, London Village, a

67,000 square foot retail property was disposed of with

a resultant loss on sale of $711,000.

Period-over-period changes reflect improvements in occupancy

in all three of CREIT’s asset classes, as well as new acquisition

and financing activities occurring throughout 2003.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

($000’s) Three months ended December 31 2003 2002

NET INFLOW (OUTFLOW) OF CASH RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES

OPERATING

Net income $ 15,933 $ 13,206

Items not affecting cash

Depreciation 2,518 2,344

Amortization of leasing costs 1,130 1,243

Amortization of leasing costs on acquisitions of properties 138 —

Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (16) —

(Gain) loss on dispositions of property — 711

Future income tax expense 68 —

Deferred leasing costs (5,049) (2,597)

Deferred recoverable maintenance costs (1,821) (1,526)

Amortization of recoverable maintenance costs 259 286

Deferred non-recoverable maintenance costs (136) 65

Amortization of non-recoverable maintenance costs 51 53

Amortization of financing costs 241 340

Changes in tenant receivables, net of allowance for bad debts (1,095) (2,401)

Changes in other non-cash operating items 10,197 7,668

TOTAL OPERATING ACTIVITIES 22,418 19,392

FINANCING

Proceeds of new mortgage financing 109,202 2,148

Mortgage principal repayments (3,432) (3,113)

Discharge of mortgages (93,232) —

Net proceeds from issue of new Units 774 486

Distributions to Unitholders (15,131) (13,474)

Deferred financing costs (481) (175)

Bank loan 19,608 (145)

TOTAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES 17,308 (14,273)

INVESTING

Additions to income properties (32,084) (3,493)

Additions to properties under development (1,460) (12,702)

Deferred leasing costs on acquisition of properties (1,294) —

Additions to intangible assets (4,007) —

Additions to intangible liabilities 491 —

Capital expenditures 40 (279)

Net proceeds from dispositions of property — 10,774

Mortgages receivable (896) —

Other assets 29 10

TOTAL INVESTING ACTIVITIES (39,181) (5,690)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSS ON CASH HELD IN FOREIGN CURRENCY (4) (4)

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 541 (575)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 2,739 2,788

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD $ 3,280 $ 2,213
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SEGMENTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

($000’s)

Three months ended December 31, 2003 Retail Industrial Office Trust Inter-Segment Total

Property rental revenue $ 21,066 $ 8,023 $ 19,637 $ — $ — $ 48,726

Property operating expenses 2,249 951 4,896 36 — 8,132

Realty tax 3,943 1,299 3,958 — — 9,200

Property management fees 632 270 670 — (1,518) 54

Amortization of non-recoverable 
deferred maintenance 13 21 17 — — 51

Amortization of recoverable 
deferred maintenance 61 83 122 — (7) 259

Property net operating income 14,168 5,399 9,974 (36) 1,525 31,030

Amortization of leasing costs 333 337 444 16 — 1,130

Amortization of leasing costs on 
acquisition of property 39 33 66 — — 138

Property net effective income 13,796 5,029 9,464 (52) 1,525 29,762

Property administration expenses 174 67 163 1,328 — 1,732

Fee income — — 187 1,767 (1,525) 429

Lease termination income 3 — 385 — — 388

Income from property operations $ 13,625 $ 4,962 $ 9,873 $ 387 $ — $ 28,847

($000’s)

Three months ended December 31, 2002 Retail Industrial Office Trust Inter-Segment Total

Property rental revenue $ 19,386 $ 7,384 $ 18,873 $ — $ — $ 45,643

Property operating expenses 1,873 1,105 4,870 54 — 7,902

Realty tax 3,586 1,168 3,798 — — 8,552

Property management fees 557 260 669 — (1,424) 62

Amortization of non-recoverable 
deferred maintenance 13 21 19 — — 53

Amortization of recoverable 
deferred maintenance 68 93 127 — (2) 286

Property net operating income 13,289 4,737 9,390 (54) 1,426 28,788

Amortization of leasing costs 393 347 474 29 — 1,243

Property net effective income 12,896 4,390 8,916 (83) 1,426 27,545

Property administration expenses 50 19 49 1,221 — 1,339

Fee income 1 — 22 1,625 (1,426) 222

Lease termination income 148 — 137 — — 285

Income from property operations $ 12,995 $ 4,371 $ 9,026 $ 321 $ — $ 26,713

Key Performance Indicator

Distributable income (DI) per Unit for the fourth quarter of 2003 was $0.36 ($1.44 annualized) compared to $0.34

($1.36 annualized) for the fourth quarter of 2002, a 6% improvement. This increase is reflective of investment and financing

activities throughout 2003 and improvements in occupancy.
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($000’s except per Unit amounts) Three months ended December 31 2003 2002 Change

Net income for the period $ 15,933 $ 13,206 $ 2,727

Add:
Depreciation 2,518 2,344 174

Loss on disposition of property — 711 (711)

Future income tax expense 68 — 68

Distributable income $ 18,519 $ 16,261 $ 2,258

Weighted average number of Units 52,121 47,877 —

Diluted weighted average number of Units 52,395 48,016 —

Basic DI per Unit $ 0.36 $ 0.34 $ 0.02

Diluted DI per Unit $ 0.35 $ 0.34 $ 0.01

Funds from operations (FFO) per Unit for the fourth quarter of 2003 was $0.38 as compared to $0.37 for the fourth quarter of

2002, representing a 3% increase.

Key Performance Indicator

FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per Unit for the fourth quarter of 2003 was $0.28 as compared to $0.32 for the

fourth quarter of 2002, representing a 13% decrease. The decline in FFO after provision for non-recoverable items is primarily

due to leasing cost expenditures and deferred financing costs experienced during the fourth quarter of 2003.

($000’s except per Unit amounts) Three Months ended December 31 2003 2002 Change

Net income for the period $ 15,933 $ 13,206 $ 2,727

Depreciation 2,518 2,344 174

Amortization of leasing costs 1,130 1,243 (113)

Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of property 138 — 138

Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (16) — (16)

(Gain) loss on disposition of property — 711 (711)

Future income tax expense 68 — 68

FFO 19,771 17,504 2,267

Add:
Amortization of non-recoverable deferred maintenance 51 53 (2)

Amortization of financing costs 241 340 (99)

20,063 17,897 2,166
Deduct:
Deferred leasing costs 5,049 2,597 2,452

Deferred non-recoverable maintenance costs 136 (65) 201

Deferred financing costs 481 175 306

FFO after provision for non-recoverable items $ 14,397 $ 15,190 $ (793)

Weighted average number of Units 52,121 47,877 —

Weighted average number of Units diluted 52,395 48,016 —

FFO per Unit $ 0.38 $ 0.37 $ 0.01

FFO per Unit diluted $ 0.38 $ 0.37 $ 0.01

FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per Unit $ 0.28 $ 0.32 $ (0.04)

FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per Unit diluted $ 0.27 $ 0.32 $ (0.05)
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LEASING COSTS

Leasing cost expenditures, square footage leased and the resultant average leasing costs per square foot, for the comparative

periods are as follows:

(000’s except per sq.ft. amounts) Leasing Cost Square Footage Average Cost

Three months ended December 31, 2003 Expenditures Leased per Square Foot

Retail $ 634 58 $ 10.97

Industrial $ 611 184 $ 3.33

Office $ 3,804 172 $ 22.07

(000’s except per sq.ft. amounts) Leasing Cost Square Footage Average Cost

Three months ended December 31, 2002 Expenditures Leased per Square Foot

Retail $ 955 33 $ 29.05

Industrial $ 349 107 $ 3.25

Office $ 1,293 90 $ 14.35

C R E I T  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 3 4 3

The decline in average costs per square foot in the retail

sector can be attributed to CREIT recapturing a portion of the

common area space at a British Columbia property in the

fourth quarter of 2002 and raising the roof height over the

premises, which permitted CREIT to replace a local drug store

tenant with a stronger tenant on a long-term lease; and

re-demising a larger unit into smaller units to accommodate a

preferred leasing plan for a property in Edmonton. In both

transactions, work included additional heating, ventilation and

air conditioning expenditures, demising walls and typical

leasehold improvements. No such major reconfigurations

occurred during the fourth quarter of 2003.

The increase in average costs per square foot in the office

sector can be attributed primarily to leasing activities in

Toronto and Halifax Class A office properties in the fourth

quarter of 2003 as compared to 2002.

Management has attempted to focus office leasing activities

on “natural users” or tenants who have a logical reason for

locating at specific properties. The intent is that a natural

user, combined with superior tenant service, should result in

high tenant retention, and high net effective income.

The change in deferred financing costs is a function of the

amount of financing activity transacted in each period. During

the fourth quarter of 2003, CREIT transacted $109.2 million of

mortgage financing.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

PART V
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

CREIT’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 2

to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Management

believes the policies which are most subject to estimation and

Management’s judgement are those as outlined below.

Impairment of Assets

Under Canadian GAAP, Management is required to write down

to fair value, any long-lived asset that is determined to have

been permanently impaired. CREIT’s long-lived assets consist

of investments in income properties and mortgages

receivable. The fair value of investments in income properties

is dependent upon anticipated future cash flows from

operations over the anticipated holding period.

The review of anticipated cash flows involves subjective

assumptions of estimated occupancy, rental rates and a

residual value. In addition to reviewing anticipated cash

flows, Management assesses changes in business climates

and other factors, which may affect the ultimate value of

the property. These assumptions are subjective and may

not ultimately be achieved.

The fair value of mortgages receivable depends upon the

financial covenant of the issuer and the economic value of the

underlying security.

In the event these factors result in a carrying value that

exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to

result from the direct use and eventual disposition of the

property, an impairment would be recognized. There were no

impairments recorded for 2003 nor 2002.

Depreciation

Depreciation is recorded on buildings using a 5%, 40-year

sinking fund basis. A significant portion of the acquisition

cost of each property is allocated to building. The allocation

of the acquisition cost to building and the determination of

the useful life are based upon Management’s estimates. In

the event the allocation to building is inappropriate or the

estimated useful life of buildings proves incorrect, the

computation of depreciation will not be appropriately

reflected over future periods.

Property Acquisitions

For acquisitions subsequent to September 12, 2003, in

accordance with CICA 1581 and CICA 3062, Management

is required to perform the procedures listed below. Many

of these procedures are subject to estimation and

Management judgement.

1. Estimate the value of the building “as if vacant” as of the

acquisition date;

2. Allocate that value among land, site improvements and

building;

3. Allocate the value of the above- and below-market leases

to the intangible assets;

4. Calculate the value and associated life of the tenant

relationships, if any, by taking the direct identifiable

benefits of the tenant relationship and discounting that

to its present value; and

5. Estimate the fair value of the tenant improvements and

leasing commission.

Fair Value of Mortgages Payable

Management determines and discloses the fair value of CREIT’s

mortgages payable on a quarterly basis. In determining the fair

value, Management uses internally developed models that are

based upon current market conditions. The process involves

discounting the future contractual mortgage payments based

upon a current market rate. In determining market rates,

Management adds a credit spread to the quoted yields on

Canadian government bonds with similar maturity dates to

CREIT’s mortgages. The credit spread is estimated based upon

experience in obtaining similar financing, and is also affected

by current market conditions.
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CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New Accounting Policies Adopted in 2003

GUARANTEES

Effective January 1, 2003 CREIT implemented the requirements

of CICA Accounting Guideline 14, which requires a guarantor to

disclose information about guarantees it has provided. Under the

Guideline, a guarantee is defined as a contract or indemnification

agreement that requires an entity to make payments to a third

party contingent on future events. The disclosures are required

even when the likelihood of the guarantor having to make any

payments under the guarantee is remote.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

CICA Handbook Section 3063 requires the use of a 2-step

process for determining when an impairment exists and

measuring the amount of the impairment. An asset is deemed

to be impaired if its carrying amount exceeds the sum of the

undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the direct

use over its holding period and eventual disposition of the

property. When impairment exists, the impaired asset is

written down to its estimated fair value. CREIT adopted this

policy on April 1, 2003, retroactive to January 1, 2003. There

was no impairment identified in 2003.

DISPOSAL OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS AND

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

CICA Handbook Section 3475 establishes standards for the

recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of

disposals of long-lived assets and discontinued operations.

It replaces the disposal provisions of Section 3061 (Property,

Plant, and Equipment) and Section 3475 (Discontinued

Operations), and harmonizes Canadian standards with the

disposal and discontinued operations provisions of FASB

Statement No. 144 (Accounting for the Impairment or

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets).

Discontinued operations are defined more broadly to include

dispositions of real estate assets for which the operations and

cash flow can be clearly distinguished, operationally and for

financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the enterprise.

The results of operations of an asset that has been sold or is

held for sale are reported as discontinued operations.

CREIT did not initiate any disposal activities after May 1, 2003

that qualify as discontinued operations, and does not have

any properties that are currently held for sale as defined

under the new standard.

ACCOUNTING FOR OPERATING LEASES ACQUIRED

IN EITHER AN ASSET ACQUISITION OR A

BUSINESS COMBINATION

Effective for transactions after September 12, 2003, in

accordance with CICA Handbook Sections 1581 (Business

Combinations) and 3062 (Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets), the purchase price of income property is allocated to

land, building, tenant improvements and intangibles (such as

the value of above and below-market leases, origination costs

associated with in-place leases and the value of tenant

relationships, if any).

The values of the above- and below-market leases are

amortized and recorded as either a decrease (in the case of

above- market leases) or an increase (in the case of below-

market leases) to property rental revenue over the remaining

term of the associated lease. The value associated with in-

place leases and tenant relationships is amortized over the

expected term of the relationship, which includes an

estimated probability of the lease renewal, and its estimated

term. In the event a tenant vacates its leased space prior to

the contractual termination of the lease and no rental

payments are being made per the lease, any unamortized

balance of the related intangible will be expensed. The tenant

improvements and origination costs are amortized as an

expense over the remaining life of the lease or expensed in

full in the event the lease is terminated prior to its contractual

expiration date.

CASH FLOW PER UNIT

Effective the first quarter of 2003, CREIT discontinued

disclosure of funds from operations per Unit in its

Consolidated Financial Statements, in accordance with

revisions to CICA Handbook Sections 1540 (Cash Flow

Statements) and 3500 (Earnings per Share).
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION AND OTHER

STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS

During 2003, Section 3870 of the CICA Handbook was

amended to require public companies to expense all stock-

based compensation over the vesting period, if any, based on

the fair value of such awards as measured at the grant date,

effective January 1, 2004. CREIT adopted this policy in 2002.

Future Changes in Accounting Policies

CICA Handbook Section 1100 clarifies the hierarchy of GAAP

in Canada. It codifies the sources of GAAP for Canadian

companies and more clearly establishes the authority of

sources of GAAP outside of the CICA Handbook, such as

U.S. GAAP. One of the major changes is the removal of

industry precedence as an appropriate source of GAAP.

The impact of this section on CREIT includes the following:

DEPRECIATION OF INCOME PROPERTIES

The sinking fund method of depreciating income properties,

currently used by many Canadian public real estate entities,

including CREIT, will be discontinued. Effective January 1,

2004 CREIT will depreciate income properties on a straight-

line basis over their remaining estimated useful life.

Management has not yet concluded its review of the impact

and is unable to indicate the magnitude of this change.

RECOGNITION OF RENTAL REVENUE

Certain leases provide for increases in rental payments over

the lease term. Currently, revenue is recognized as it becomes

due. Under the new standard, the total amount of rental

revenue to be received from such leases is to be accounted

for on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Accordingly, a receivable is recorded from the tenants for the

current difference between the straight-line rent and the rent

that is contractually due from the tenant. CREIT has adopted

this recommendation, on a prospective basis, effective

January 1, 2004. Management estimates the impact to rental

revenue will be as follows:

2004 Increase in rental revenue by $3.5 million

2005 Increase in rental revenue by $1.8 million

2006 Increase in rental revenue by $0.5 million

2007 Decrease in rental revenue by $0.4 million

2008 and beyond Decrease in rental revenue by $5.4 million

HEDGING RELATIONSHIPS

Effective January 1, 2004, CICA Accounting Guideline 13

establishes specific conditions for when hedge accounting

may be applied. CREIT has foreign exchange contracts, which

hedge the income after mortgage interest from its Oakbrook,

Illinois property. CREIT will arrange its contracts to meet the

conditions for the hedge accounting treatment.
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PART VI
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

All income property investments are subject to a degree of

risk and uncertainty. Income property is affected by various

factors including general economic conditions and local

market circumstances. Local business conditions such as

oversupply of space or a reduction in demand particularly

affect income property investments. Management attempts to

manage these risks through geographic and asset class

diversification in CREIT’s property portfolio. At December 31,

2003, CREIT held 118 properties in three asset classes (retail,

industrial and office), and geographically spread out among

nine provinces in Canada and one U.S. state.

CREIT is exposed to other risks as outlined below.

Interest Rate and Financing Risk

Management attempts to stagger the maturities of CREIT’s

mortgage portfolio evenly over a 10-year time horizon, which

implies a target weighted average term to maturity of five years.

Management is of the view that such a strategy will result in

the most effective interest rate risk management.

As outlined under “Liquidity and Capital Resources”, CREIT

has an ongoing requirement to access the debt markets to

refinance maturing debt as it comes due. There is a risk that

lenders will not refinance such maturing debt on terms and

conditions acceptable to CREIT, or any terms at all.

Management’s strategy attempts to mitigate CREIT’s exposure

to excessive amounts of debt maturing in any one year.

CREIT has arranged a floating rate bank credit facility limited

to $150 million. The credit facility is subject to annual renewal.

At December 31, 2003, $ 1 17.1 million was drawn. There is a

risk that bank lenders will not refinance the facility on terms

and conditions acceptable to CREIT, or on any terms at all. As

a mitigating factor in this eventuality, CREIT has a 1-year term

extension option.

The table below outlines the effect of hypothetical changes in

interest rates on the total interest expense relating to CREIT’s

floating bank credit facility. The analysis does not reflect the

impact a changing interest rate environment could have on

CREIT’s overall performance, and as a result, it does not

reflect actions Management may take in such an environment.

Management has identified a target level of indebtedness for

CREIT of 55% of total adjusted assets. Total adjusted assets

are calculated utilizing CREIT’s acquisition cost.

Management is of the view that such level of indebtedness is

conservative given the lending parameters currently existing

in the real estate market place (generally up to 65—75% of

current market value) and Management is confident all debts

will be financed or refinanced as they come due for the

foreseeable future.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that tenants may be

unable to fulfill their lease commitments. Management

mitigates this risk by ensuring that CREIT’s tenant mix is

diversified and by limiting CREIT’s exposure to any one tenant.

CREIT also maintains a portfolio that is diversified by property

type so that exposure to business sectors is lessened.
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Interest Rate Approximate Change Approximate Change on 

As at Movement in Interest Expense (000’s) Interest Expense per Unit

December 31, 2003 10% (38.6 basis points) $ 452 $ 0.01

December 31, 2002 10% (42.8 basis points) $ 501 $ 0.01
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Currently, no one tenant represents more than 2.7% of total

revenues. The top 10 tenants collectively represent about 21%

of total revenues. CREIT’s ten largest tenants, based upon

current monthly gross rent, are as follows:

% of Gross Revenue

1. Towers Perrin Inc. 2.7%

2. Wal-Mart Canada Inc. 2.4%

3. Leo Burnett Company Ltd. 2.4%

4. Government of Canada 2.2%

5. TD Canada Trust 2.0%

6. Indigo Books & Music Inc. 1.9%

7. Molson Breweries of Canada 1.8%

8. Staples/Business Depot 1.7%

9. T.J. Maxx/Winners 1.7%

10. Forzani Group Ltd. 1.7%

As CREIT invests in mortgages from time to time, further

credit risks arise in the event that borrowers default on the

repayment of their mortgages to CREIT. CREIT endeavours to

ensure that adequate security has been provided in support of

such mortgages.

Lease Roll-Over Risk

Lease roll-over risk arises from the possibility that CREIT may

experience difficulty renewing leases as they expire or in

releasing space vacated by tenants upon lease expiry.

Management attempts to stagger the lease expiry profile so

that CREIT is not faced with disproportionate amounts of

space expiring in any one year. Management further mitigates

this risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio mix both by

asset type and geographic location.
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The following tables set out lease expiries, by square footage, for CREIT’s portfolio at December 31, 2003:

LEASE ROLL-OVER BY ASSET CLASS

Retail Industrial Office Total

(Sq.Ft.) (%) (Sq.Ft.) (%) (Sq.Ft.) (%) (Sq.Ft.) (%)

2004 231,254 5.7% 870,039 17.8% 374,164 13.3% 1,475,457 12.5%

2005 242,597 6.0 802,858 16.5 311,883 11.1 1,357,338 11.5

2006 639,340 15.7 937,814 19.2 443,420 15.8 2,020,574 17.2

2007 458,280 11.3 917,762 18.8 196,487 7.0 1,572,529 13.4

2008 367,640 9.0 606,023 12.4 450,647 16.0 1,424,310 12.1

Thereafter 2,077,566 51.0 482,131 9.9 870,448 30.9 3,430,145 29.2

Vacant 51,744 1.3 262,215 5.4 165,970 5.9 479,929 4.1

Total 4,068,421 100.0% 4,878,842 100.0% 2,813,019 100.0% 11,760,282 100.0%

2004 LEASE EXPIRIES BY ASSET CLASS & REGION

Maritimes Quebec Ontario Manitoba Sask. Alberta B.C. U.S. Total

Retail 21,264 9,036 88,615 — 15,750 21,976 74,613 — 231,254

Industrial 165,719 20,708 245,009 — — 438,603 — — 870,039

Office 61,814 113,794 124,897 8,024 — — 65,635 — 374,164

Total 248,797 143,538 458,521 8,024 15,750 460,579 140,248 — 1,475,457
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The weighted average contractual net rental rate per square foot

expiring in CREIT’s portfolio, is outlined in the following table:

Year Retail Industrial Office

2004 $ 11.12 $ 5.26 $ 11.34

2005 18.18 5.08 13.63

2006 17.86 5.79 16.53

2007 20.94 4.79 13.12

2008 28.94 4.31 17.29

Thereafter 18.64 5.20 17.36

Total average $ 19.26 $ 5.11 $ 15.60

Weighted average 
remaining lease term 7.1 years 2.9 years 4.9 years

On average, CREIT’s embedded or contractual net rents

expiring in 2004 would approximate market rates.

CREIT’s financial exposure to vacancies and lease roll-overs

differs among the three asset types, since gross rental rates

differ dramatically by asset class.

In the current economic environment, office assets are

exposed to the greatest degree of lease roll-over risk, given

the recent contraction in demand and the competing “sub-let”

space that has been brought to market.

One of CREIT’s performance drivers is related to occupancy.

The majority of CREIT’s leases in place are referred to as net

leases, meaning tenants reimburse CREIT for their share of

operating costs and realty taxes.

Many of CREIT’s operating costs and realty tax expenses are

generally of a fixed nature, although CREIT does experience

a variable element as it relates to utilities, janitorial costs,

and in certain municipalities, realty tax.

The table below outlines the effect of hypothetical changes in

occupancy on gross revenues (and assuming all operating

costs and realty tax expenses are fixed). The analysis does not

identify a particular cause of such changing occupancy and as

a result, it does not reflect the actions Management may take

in relation to the changes.

Change in Approximate Change in Approximate Change in

As at December 31, 2003 Average Occupancy Average Gross Revenue Gross Revenues per Unit

Retail portfolio 100 basis points $ 847 $ 0.02

Office portfolio 100 basis points $ 864 $ 0.02

Industrial portfolio 100 basis points $ 345 $ 0.01

Total real estate portfolio 100 basis points $ 2,039 $ 0.04

Change in Approximate Change in Approximate Change in

As at December 31, 2002 Average Occupancy Average Gross Revenue Gross Revenues per Unit

Retail portfolio 100 basis points $ 786 $ 0.02

Office portfolio 100 basis points $ 748 $ 0.02

Industrial portfolio 100 basis points $ 322 $ 0.01

Total real estate portfolio 100 basis points $ 1,811 $ 0.04
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Currency Risk

CREIT is also exposed to currency risk as it relates to its

U.S. subsidiary. Changes in the applicable exchange rate

could impact income to Unitholders.

To mitigate this risk, CREIT enters into forward exchange

contracts to hedge the net operating income after interest

expense of the U.S. asset. The U.S. asset currently accounts

for 5% of CREIT’s property net operating income.

Environmental Risk

CREIT is subject to various Canadian and U.S. laws relating to

the environment, which deal primarily with the costs of

removal and remediation of hazardous substances, such as

asbestos. Environmental risk is relevant to CREIT’s ability to

sell or finance affected assets and could potentially result in

liabilities for the costs of removal and remediation of

hazardous substances or claims against CREIT. Management is

not aware of any material non-compliance with environmental

laws or regulations with regard to CREIT’s portfolio, or of any

pending or threatened actions, investigations or claims

against CREIT relating to environmental matters.

CREIT has formal policies and procedures to manage

environmental exposures in a proactive manner during every

aspect of the property life cycle. In addition, as part of CREIT’s

risk management program, assets are insured for

environmental incidents.

PART VII
UNITS OUTSTANDING

The Trust has issued, and is permitted to issue under its

Declaration of Trust, only a single class of Units.

Each Unit represents an equal interest in the Trust together

with all outstanding Units. All Units outstanding from time to

time participate pro-rata in the distributions of the Trust, and

all Units have equal voting rights at meetings held by the Trust.

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Units outstanding 52,175,838 47,922,611

UNITHOLDER TAXATION

For taxable Canadian resident Unitholders, the distributions

are treated in the following manner for tax purposes:

2003 2002

Foreign non-business income 2.02% —

Other income 51.98% 51.53%

Return of capital 46.00% 48.47%

OTHER

Additional information relating to CREIT including the Annual

Information Form, Material Change reports and all other

continuous disclosures documents required by the securities

regulators, are filed on System for Electronic Document

Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) and can be accessed

electronically at www.sedar.com.
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OUTLOOK

2003 was an active and successful year for CREIT on many fronts.

The key performance indicators, discussed throughout the MD&A, address how Management measures performance and

progress, and how Unitholders realize the benefits.

Key Performance Indicators Summary:

• Occupancy > Increased year-over-year in every asset class

(%) 2003 2002 Change

Retail 98.7% 97.6% 1.1%

Industrial 94.6 93.4 1.2

Office 94.1 89.8 4.3

Total Portfolio 95.9% 94.0% 1.9%

• Same-asset net operating income > Positive improvement

Retail: no change as anticipated

Industrial: 3% improvement

Office: 1% improvement

• Weighted average cost of debt > Reduction in cost of debt of 46 basis points

• Funds from operations after provision > Declined due to office leasing costs

for non-recoverable items per Unit

• Distributable income per Unit > Positive improvement of 2%
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The primary benefit to Unitholders is a reliable and, over time,

increasing cash distribution. Cash distributions to Unitholders

increased 3% year-over-year.

CREIT’s distributable income for the fourth quarter of 2003

was $0.36 or $1.44 annualized. Acquisition activity during the

later part of the quarter, together with development projects

anticipated to come on stream next year, will contribute to

2004’s performance.

The accounting policy changes dealing with property

acquisitions and recognition of revenue (outlined in Part V),

both have implications to the calculation of Distributable

Income. These changes result in a greater divergence between

cash received in the period and the income recorded.

At the next meeting of the Unitholders, Management anticipates

recommending changes to the definition of Distributable

Income, or alternatively introducing new terminology, to

better reflect the original intent of the concept.

CREIT was faced with numerous challenges during 2003

(the two principal challenges being the state of the office

leasing markets, and the limited supply of new acquisition

opportunities), and 2004 will undoubtedly present new

challenges. Management has demonstrated the strength

of its strategies and operating capabilities and, barring

any unforeseen events, is confident on delivering

expectations in 2004.



Auditors’ Report

To the Unitholders of

Canadian Real Estate Investment Trust

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Canadian

Real Estate Investment Trust as at December 31, 2003 and

2002 and the consolidated statements of income, Unitholders’

Equity and cash flows for the years then ended. These

financial statements are the responsibility of the Trust’s

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian

generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards

require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are

free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,

on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements

present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position

of the Trust as at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the

results of its operations and its cash flows for the years

then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted

accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants 

Toronto, Ontario

January 30, 2004

Management’s Responsibility
for Financial Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements

and information included in this Annual Report have been

prepared by management of the Trust, which is responsible

for their consistency, integrity and objectivity. The Trust

maintains appropriate systems of internal control, policies

and procedures to ensure that its reporting practices and

accounting administration procedures are efficient and of

high quality.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent auditors appointed by

the Unitholders, are responsible for auditing the consolidated

financial statements and giving an opinion thereon.

The consolidated financial statements have been reviewed

and approved by the Board of Trustees and its Audit

Committee. This Committee meets regularly with

management and the auditors. The auditors have full and

free access to the Committee.

Stephen E. Johnson 

President and Chief Executive Officer

Timothy P. McSorley 

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2003 and 2002

(Thousands of dollars) 2003 2002

ASSETS

Real estate assets

Income properties (Note 3) $ 1,172,910 $ 1,108,595

Properties under development 38,157 24,327

Deferred charges (Note 4) 34,943 24,064

Mortgages receivable (Note 5) 21,514 18,137

1,267,524 1,175,123

Cash and cash equivalents 3,280 2,213

Accounts receivable 10,840 10,634

Deferred financing costs (Note 6) 1,841 1,541

Intangible assets (Note 7) 3,905 —

Other assets 5,176 3,351

$ 1,292,566 $ 1,192,862

LIABILITIES

Mortgages payable (Note 9) $ 577,754 $ 533,214

Bank loan (Note 10) 117,124 117,013

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 33,473 29,274

Intangible liabilities (Note 7) 468 —

Future income tax liability (Note 14) 1,742 —

730,561 679,501

UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Unitholders’ Equity (Note 12) 561,676 513,473

Cumulative translation gain (loss) 329 (112)

562,005 513,361

$ 1,292,566 $ 1,192,862

Approved by the Trustees:

Lawrence Morassutti, C.A. Robert Witterick

Trustee Trustee
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Consolidated Statements of Income
Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

(Thousands of dollars except per Unit amounts) 2003 2002

REVENUES

Property rental revenue (Note 13) $ 187,051 $ 159,055

Interest income 2,180 1,576

Fee income 1,198 644

Lease termination income 521 1,695

190,950 162,970

EXPENSES

Property operating expenses 30,084 25,796

Realty taxes 36,412 29,866

Property administrative expenses 6,477 5,407

Property management fees 223 266

Amortization of recoverable deferred maintenance 1,083 925

Amortization of non-recoverable deferred maintenance 205 219

Amortization of leasing costs 4,540 4,400

Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 138 —

Amortization of financing costs 991 1,135

Depreciation 9,895 8,171

Mortgage and bank loan interest (Note 11) 38,460 32,854

General and administrative 1,702 1,573

130,210 110,612

INCOME BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED 60,740 52,358

GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY 267 (711)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 61,007 51,647

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current 679 —

Future 1,882 —

2,561 —

NET INCOME $ 58,446 $ 51,647

BASIC AND DILUTED NET INCOME PER UNIT (Note 15) $ 1.14 $ 1.14

Consolidated Statements of Unitholders’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

(Thousands of dollars) 2003 2002

UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY, BEGINNING OF YEAR $ 513,473 $ 448,394

Net income 58,446 51,647

Subscriptions 55,206 70,530

Unit Option compensation (2) 4

Issue costs (2,424) (2,948)

Distributions (63,023) (54,154)

UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY, END OF YEAR $ 561,676 $ 513,473
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

(Thousands of dollars) 2003 2002

NET INFLOW (OUTFLOW) OF CASH RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES

OPERATING

Net income $ 58,446 $ 51,647

Items not affecting cash

Depreciation 9,895 8,171

(Gain) loss on dispositions of property (267) 711

Future income tax expense 1,882 —

Deferred leasing costs (11,438) (5,078)

Amortization of leasing costs 4,540 4,400

Amortization of deferred leasing costs on acquisition of properties 138 —

Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (16) —

Deferred recoverable maintenance costs (4,092) (3,328)

Amortization of recoverable maintenance costs 1,083 925

Deferred non-recoverable maintenance costs (136) (79)

Amortization of non-recoverable maintenance costs 205 219

Amortization of financing costs 991 1,135

Changes in tenant receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 840 (2,819)

Changes in other non-cash operating items (1,554) 7,361

TOTAL OPERATING ACTIVITIES 60,517 63,265

FINANCING

Proceeds of new mortgage financing 187,277 13,148

Mortgage principal repayments (12,931) (10,500)

Discharge of mortgages (151,888) (12,636)

Net proceeds from issue of new Units 49,334 64,609

Distributions to Unitholders (59,577) (51,181)

Deferred financing costs (1,326) (1,083)

Bank loan 3,865 95,550

TOTAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES 14,754 97,907

INVESTING

Additions to income properties (53,919) (156,515)

Additions to properties under development (13,828) (24,327)

Deferred leasing costs on acquisition of properties (1,294) —

Intangible assets on acquisition of properties (4,007) —

Intangible liabilities on acquisition of properties 491 —

Capital expenditures (111) (279)

Net proceeds from dispositions of property 501 10,809

Mortgages receivable (1,944) (8,539)

Other assets (72) (137)

TOTAL INVESTING ACTIVITIES (74,183) (178,988)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSS ON CASH HELD IN FOREIGN CURRENCY (21) (6)

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,067 (17,822)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,213 20,035

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 3,280 $ 2,213
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE

1. On June 27, 2003, 1508 West Broadway and 1580 West

Broadway, a mixed-use property located in Vancouver,

British Columbia was acquired at a price of $40.9 million,

paid partially with an assumption of mortgage in the

amount of $27.7 million.

2. On January 28, 2003, 801 St. Clair Street, a retail property

located in Chatham, Ontario, was acquired at a price of

$3.7 million, paid partially with an assumption of mortgage

in the amount of $2.3 million.

3. On September 20, 2002, Westridge Power Centre, a retail

property located in Vaughan, Ontario, was acquired at

a price of $33.1 million, paid partially with an assumption

of mortgages in the amount of $22 million.

4. On August 15, 2002, the Trust acquired four retail

properties — Baymac Shopping Centre, Richmond Hill,

Ontario; South Keys Shopping Centre, Ottawa, Ontario;

Woodside Power Centre, Markham, Ontario; and Blue

Bonnets Power Centre, Montreal, Quebec — for a total

price of $108 million, paid partially with an assumption

of mortgages in the total amount of $67.9 million.

5. On July 3, 2002, 175 Bloor Street East, an office building

located in Toronto, Ontario, was acquired at a price of

$140 million, paid partially with an assumption of a

mortgage in the amount of $75.2 million.

6. The cash interest paid during the year ended December 31,

2003 was $40 million (2002 — $32.3 million).

7. The cash income taxes paid during the year ended

December 31, 2003 was $0.7 million (2002 — nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2003 and 2002

1. ORGANIZATION OF THE TRUST

Canadian Real Estate Investment Trust (the “Trust”) is a

“closed-end” real estate investment trust created for the

benefit of the Unitholders. The Trust commenced active

operations on behalf of the Unitholders on April 1, 1984.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Trust’s accounting policies and its standards of

financial disclosure are in accordance with the

recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered

Accountants. The more significant of these policies are

described below:

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the

accounts of the Trust and its wholly-owned

subsidiaries. The Trust’s investment in co-ownerships

is accounted for using the proportionate

consolidation method.

(b) Income Properties

Income properties are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation. If it is determined that

the carrying amount of an income property exceeds

the undiscounted estimated future net cash flow

expected to be received from the ongoing use and

residual worth of the property it is reduced to its

estimated fair value.

Depreciation is recorded on buildings using a 5%

40-year sinking fund basis. Under this method,

depreciation is charged to income at an amount

which increases annually, consisting of a fixed annual

sum together with a factor compounded at the rate

of 5% per annum so as to fully depreciate the

buildings over a 40-year period.

In accordance with CICA 1581 and CICA 3062,

effective for transactions after September 12, 2003,

the purchase price of income property is allocated to

land, building, tenant improvements and intangibles,

such as the value of above- and below-market leases,

origination costs associated with in-place leases and

the value of tenant relationships, if any.

The values of the above- and below-market leases

are amortized and recorded as either an increase (in

the case of below-market leases) or a decrease (in

the case of above-market leases) to property rental

revenue over the remaining term of the associated

lease. The value associated with in-place leases and

tenant relationships is amortized over the expected

term of the relationship, which includes an estimated

probability of the lease renewal, and its estimated

term. In the event a tenant vacates its leased space

prior to the contractual termination of the lease and

no rental payments are being made on the lease, any

unamortized balance of the related intangible will be

expensed. The tenant improvements and origination

costs are amortized as an expense over the

remaining life of the lease (or expensed in full in the

event the lease is terminated prior to its contractual

expiration date).

(c) Properties under Development

Properties under development are stated at cost. If

it is determined that the carrying amount exceeds

the undiscounted estimated future net cash flows

expected to be received from the ongoing use and

residual worth of the completed property, after

taking into account estimated costs to complete the

development, it is reduced to its estimated fair value.

Cost includes initial acquisition costs, other direct costs

and realty taxes, interest, and operating revenues and

expenses during the period of development. Revenues

and expenses of properties under development are

recognized in income once the property is substantially

complete and a satisfactory level of occupancy has

been achieved, subject to a reasonable maximum

period of time. Upon substantial completion, the

properties are classified as income properties.
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(d) Leasing Costs

Leasing costs, including tenant inducements and

leasing commissions, are deferred and amortized on

a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective

leases. The unamortized balance of leasing costs is

included in deferred charges.

(e) Financing Costs

Financing costs are deferred and amortized on a

straight-line basis over the term of the respective

indebtedness.

(f) Maintenance Costs

Maintenance and repair costs are expensed against

operations, while deferred recoverable and non-

recoverable maintenance costs, which are major

items of repair or replacement, are amortized on a

straight-line basis over the period of recovery, or

over the expected useful life of such major repair or

replacement, respectively. The unamortized balance

is included in deferred charges.

(g) Revenue Recognition

Certain leases provide for tenant occupancy during

periods for which no rent is due (“free rent period”).

The Trust records rental income for the full term of

each lease. Accordingly, a receivable is recorded

from tenants for the value of the free rent period.

When a property is acquired, the term of existing

leases is considered to commence as of the

acquisition date for purposes of this calculation. The

amounts included in rental income for the years

ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, which had not

been billed as of such dates, were approximately

$627,000 and $95,000 respectively.

(h) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained for

estimated losses resulting from the inability of

certain tenants to meet the contractual obligation

under their lease agreements.

(i) Translation of Foreign Currencies

The Trust has a self-sustaining subsidiary in the

United States, which is financially and operationally

independent. Assets and liabilities of this investment

are translated at the rate of exchange in effect at

the balance sheet date. The resulting net gain or loss

is reflected in the cumulative translation (loss) gain

account in Unitholders’ Equity. Revenue and expense

items are translated at the average exchange rate

for the year.

The Trust uses forward exchange contracts to manage

its foreign exchange risk exposures. The resulting

gains or losses on forward exchange contracts, which

represent designated hedges of distributions from the

U.S. subsidiary, are recorded in the cumulative

translation account in Unitholders’ Equity as an offset

to the above gains or losses. Any excess gains or

losses arising from differences between the notional

amount of the forward exchange contracts and the

actual income for the year are recorded in the

Consolidated Statements of Income.

(j) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability

method. Under this method, future income taxes are

recognized for the expected future tax consequences

of differences between the carrying amount of balance

sheet items and their corresponding tax values.

Future income taxes are computed using substantively

enacted corporate income tax rates for the years in

which the differences are expected to reverse.
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(k) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in

conformity with Canadian generally accepted

accounting principles requires management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the recorded

amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the

financial statements, and the reported amounts of

revenue and expenses during the reporting period.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(l) Unit Option Plan

The Trust has a Unit Option Plan, as described in

Note 12. Any consideration paid by the employees

or Trustees on the exercise of Options or the

purchase of Units is credited to Unitholders’

Equity. If Units or Unit Options are repurchased

from employees or Trustees, the excess of the

consideration paid over the carrying amount of

the Unit or Unit Option cancelled is charged to

Unitholders’ Equity.

The Trust accounts for Unit Options using the

fair value method. Under the fair value method,

compensation expense for Unit Options that are

direct awards of Units is measured at fair value at

the grant date using an option pricing model and

is recognized over the vesting period.
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3. INCOME PROPERTIES
2003 2002

Accumulated

(Thousands of dollars) Cost Depreciation Net Book Value Net Book Value

Freehold properties

Land $ 194,303 $ — $ 194,303 $ 182,707

Buildings 958,503 40,692 917,811 892,511

1,152,806 40,692 1,112,114 1,075,218

Leasehold properties 61,610 814 60,796 33,377

$ 1,214,416 $ 41,506 $ 1,172,910 $ 1,108,595

4. DEFERRED CHARGES
2003 2002

Accumulated

(Thousands of dollars) Cost Amortization Net Book Value Net Book Value

Deferred leasing costs $ 34,783 $ 11,903 $ 22,880 $ 16,172

Deferred leasing costs 
on acquisition of properties 1,294 44 1,250 —

Deferred recoverable maintenance costs 12,374 2,701 9,673 6,599

Deferred non-recoverable 
maintenance costs 1,792 652 1,140 1,293

$ 50,243 $ 15,300 $ 34,943 $ 24,064
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5. MORTGAGES RECEIVABLE

(a) Hull Wal-Mart, Hull, Quebec

The mortgage receivable from the co-owner of

the property in the amount of $2.2 million is

subrogated to the first mortgage loan payable.

This mortgage has been re-extended for a term

expiring September 30, 2004. Interest is set at

12%, payable monthly in arrears.

(b) 1280 Fanshawe Park Road and 1287 Hyde

Park Road, London, Ontario

The mortgage receivable in the amount of

$13.7 million is secured against a shopping centre

development property, bears interest at 10%,

accruing monthly, and matures on August 15, 2007.

The mortgage receivable is subordinated to a

construction loan.

(c) 801 St. Clair Street, Chatham, Ontario

The mortgage receivable in the amount of $1.5 million

is secured against the co-owner’s interest in the

property. Interest is set at 10%, payable monthly, and

the mortgage matures on January 27, 2008.

(d) 3075 and 3083 Highway #7 East,

Markham, Ontario

The mortgages receivable in the amount of

$2.3 million and $0.5 million are secured against

the co-owner’s interests in the property. Interest for

the $2.3 million mortgage is 10%, accruing monthly

and the mortgage matures on July 3, 2006. Interest

for the $0.5 million mortgage is 7%, accruing monthly,

and the mortgage matures on June 26, 2006.

All of the above mortgages receivable are with

counterparties that are affiliated to one another.

(e) Eastlake Industrial Centre, Calgary, Alberta

The note receivable in the amount of $1.3 million

is secured against a deposit on an industrial site,

bears interest at 9%, accruing monthly, and is

payable on demand.

6. DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS

Deferred financing costs are net of accumulated

amortization of $1,258,000 (2002 — $1,751,000).

7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Intangible assets represent the value of above- market

leases, origination costs associated with in-place leases,

and the value of tenant relationships for income

properties acquired after September 12, 2003, and are net

of accumulated amortization of $102,000 (2002 — nil).

Intangible liabilities represent the value of below-market

leases for income properties acquired after September 12,

2003 and are net of accumulated amortization of

$23,000 (2002 — nil).

8. CO-OWNERSHIPS

The following amounts represent the Trust’s interest in

co-ownerships:

(Thousands of dollars) 2003 2002

Assets $ 302,118 $ 293,326

Liabilities 189,192 177,318

Revenues 44,908 32,676

Expenses 30,153 21,883

Cash flow from 
(applied to):

Operating activities 17,176 14,172

Financing activities 9,223 (419)

Investing activities (7,639) (57,436)

The Trust is contingently liable for the obligations of its

associates in certain joint ventures. The assets of the

joint ventures are available and are sufficient for the

purpose of satisfying such obligations.
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9. MORTGAGES PAYABLE

Mortgages payable bear interest at a weighted average

rate of 6.32% (December 31, 2002 — 6.81%) per annum.

Mortgages payable are secured by first charges on the

Trust’s interest in income properties and contain various

clauses including an assignment of leases and amounts

due from property rentals.

Included in mortgages payable is a U.S. $27.7 million; 

Cdn. $35.9 million (December 31, 2002 — U.S. $27.4 million;

Cdn. $43.2 million) mortgage obligation secured by a

U.S. property which bears interest at a rate of 5.07%

(December 31, 2002 — 7.03%).

All mortgages payable bear interest at fixed rates except

the first mortgages payable secured by the Westridge

Power Centre (Phase III), Hull Wal-Mart, 801 St. Clair

Street, Bayers Lake Centre and 100 Alexis Nihon

Boulevard in the amounts of $4.6 million, $1.7 million,

$2.3 million, $4.5 million and $11.3 million respectively

(December 31, 2002 — $3.1 million, $7.6 million, nil, nil

and nil), of which Westridge Power Centre, 801 St. Clair

Street and Hull Wal-Mart bear interest at prime plus

0.75%, Bayers Lake Centre bears interest at one month

Bankers’ Acceptance plus 1.5% and 100 Alexis Nihon

Boulevard bears interest at one month Bankers’

Acceptance plus 2.0%.

The mortgages are repayable as follows:

(Thousands of dollars)

2004 $ 82,311

2005 61,824

2006 90,549

2007 77,521

2008 21,625

Thereafter 243,924

$ 577,754

10. BANK LOAN

The Trust has a revolving credit facility limited to

$150 million for acquisition and operating purposes,

which is secured by mortgages on 57 properties. The

credit facility is subject to annual renewal. The majority

of funds drawn under this facility are at LIBOR and

Bankers’ Acceptance rates. As at December 31, 2003,

a total of approximately $117.1 million, including

U.S. $13.1 million, had been drawn (December 31, 2002 —

a total of $117 million, including U.S. $13.7 million). As at

December 31, 2003, the weighted average interest rate

on amounts drawn under the credit facility is 3.86%

(December 31, 2002 — 4.28%).

11. INTEREST ON DEBT

Interest incurred on all sources of financing is broken

down as follows:

(Thousands of dollars) 2003 2002

Interest expensed on 
mortgages and 
bank loan $ 38,460 $ 32,854

Interest capitalized to 
properties under 
development 1,448 361

Total interest incurred 
during the year $ 39,908 $ 33,215

12. UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(a) Units Issued and Outstanding

2003 2002

Balance, 
beginning of year 47,922,611 42,545,126

Issued for cash 3,865,245 5,025,712

Issued for reinvested 
distributions 253,517 233,975

Unit Options exercised 134,465 117,798

Balance, end of year 52,175,838 47,922,611
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(b) Unit Option Plan

On June 5, 1998 the Unitholders passed a resolution

implementing a Unit Option Plan (“the Plan”) in favour

of the officers, employees and Trustees of the Trust

and officers, employees and directors of the former

property manager and certain subsidiaries of the Trust.

Options granted to participants of the Plan, other

than Trustees of the Trust, will vest over a 3-year

period from the grant date. Options granted to

Trustees vest on the grant date.

Pursuant to the vesting provision, participants of the

Plan, other than Trustees of the Trust, are committed

to invest certain minimum amounts at the time they

join the Plan, in Units of the Trust over a 5-year period.

On June 25, 2003, 1,048,135 units reserved for

issuance under the Plan were allocated to reserves for

issuance under the Long Term Incentive Plan. As a

result no further options will be issued under the Plan.

(c) Long Term Incentive Plan

On June 25, 2003, Unitholders of the Trust passed a

resolution implementing a Long Term Incentive Plan

in favour of certain officers and key employees of

the Trust. Participants may subscribe for Units of the

Trust for a purchase price equal to the “market

price” for Units, which purchase price will be payable

in cash installments, over a term not to exceed 

10 years. Participants are required to apply cash

distributions received by them, in respect of the

Long Term Incentive Plan, towards payments of

interest and the remaining installments. An

aggregate of 1,200,000 Units are reserved for

issuance (including 1,048,135 Units allocated from

the Unit Option Plan), pursuant to the Long Term

Incentive Plan. No Units have been issued as at

December 31, 2003.

6 2 C R E I T  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 3

Pursuant to the Plan, the following activity occurred during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002:

Unit Options Unit Options Unit Options Weighted Weighted 

Range of Outstanding at Unit Unit Unit Outstanding at Vested at Average Average

Exercise December 31, Options Options Options December 31, December 31, Exercise Remaining 

Price 2002 Granted Exercised Cancelled 2003 2003 Price Per Unit Life (years)

$ 9.68—10.50 189,200 — 50,162 2,000 137,038 137,038 $ 10.04 5.63

$ 11.00—11.82 525,333 — 40,970 8,000 476,363 476,363 $ 11.29 5.31

$ 12.05—12.84 438,000 — 40,333 4,000 393,667 261,993 $ 12.35 7.83

$ 13.24 6,000 — 3,000 — 3,000 3,000 $ 13.24 6.07

1,158,533 — 134,465 14,000 1,010,068 878,394

Unit Options Unit Options Unit Options Weighted Weighted 

Range of Outstanding at Unit Unit Unit Outstanding at Vested at Average Average

Exercise December 31, Options Options Options December 31, December 31, Exercise Remaining 

Price 2001 Granted Exercised Cancelled 2002 2002 Price Per Unit Life (years)

$ 9.68—10.50 298,666 — 82,798 26,668 189,200 130,860 $ 10.00 6.23

$ 11.00—11.82 543,333 — 18,000 — 525,333 525,333 $ 11.27 6.24

$ 12.05—12.84 453,000 6,000 16,000 5,000 438,000 174,663 $ 12.34 8.70

$ 13.24 — 7,000 1,000 — 6,000 6,000 $ 13.24 8.24

1,294,999 13,000 117,798 31,668 1,158,533 836,856
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(d) Employee Unit Purchase Plan

On June 25, 2003, Unitholders of the Trust passed a

resolution implementing an Employee Unit Purchase

Plan. The number of Units each participant would

be entitled to acquire is limited to 5% of their

respective salaries. In addition, if a participant has

participated in the Employee Unit Purchase Plan

for 12 consecutive months, the Trust will match a

certain portion of the employee contributions to

a maximum of not more than $1,000, which

matching amount shall be applied to purchase

additional Units for the participant. An aggregate

of 150,000 Units are reserved for issuance under

the Employee Unit Purchase Plan. 1,581 Units have

been issued as at December 31, 2003.

13. PROPERTY RENTAL REVENUE

Included in property rental revenue are recoveries for the

year ended December 31, 2003 of $63.1 million (2002 —

$53 million), which represent operating costs and realty

taxes recovered from tenants.

14. INCOME TAXES

The Trust is taxed as a “Mutual Fund Trust” for Canadian

income tax purposes. Pursuant to the Declaration of Trust,

the Trustees intend to distribute or designate all taxable

income to the Unitholders of the Trust and to deduct such

distributions and designations for Canadian income tax

purposes. The Trust is subject to taxation in the United

States in connection with income earned in the United

States. Such taxes paid, to the extent permitted, will be

designated as a foreign tax credit to Unitholders of the

Trust. The Trust’s wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary,

CREIT Management Limited, is subject to tax on its

taxable income under the Income Tax Act (Canada).

During the third quarter, the Trust incorporated an Illinois

company as a wholly-owned subsidiary, and elected a tax

deferred transfer of the Oakbrook, Illinois property into

the subsidiary.

The Trust’s U.S. subsidiary is subject to tax on its taxable

income at a rate of 38.8%.

The balance of the future income tax liability arises from

the temporary differences between carrying value and

the tax basis of the Oakbrook, Illinois property.

The carrying value of the Trust’s net assets, excluding

the Oakbrook, Illinois property, exceeds the tax basis by

approximately $140.2 million at December 31, 2003

(2002 — $119.8 million).

15. PER UNIT CALCULATIONS

Basic per Unit information is calculated based on the

weighted average number of Units outstanding for the

period. The calculation of per Unit information on a diluted

basis considers the potential exercise of outstanding Unit

purchase Options to the extent that each Option is dilutive.

The following table provides a reconciliation between the

weighted average number of Units used to calculate basic

and diluted net income per Unit.

2003 2002

Weighted average 
number of Units 51,240,020 45,295,004

Effect of dilutive 
Unit Options 199,124 162,014

Weighted average 
number of diluted 
Units outstanding 51,439,144 45,457,018

No Options to purchase Units have been excluded from

the diluted calculation in 2003. For the year ended

December 31, 2002, Options to purchase 6,000 Units

at $13.24 per Unit were excluded from the diluted

calculation because the exercise price for the Options

was greater than the average market price of the Units.
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16. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

RISK MANAGEMENT

In the normal course of its business, the Trust is exposed

to a number of risks that can affect its operating

performance. These risks, and the actions taken to

manage them, are as follows:

(a) Interest Rate Risk

Floating rate debt is generally restricted by the Trust’s

operating plan to an amount equal to 10% of total

assets plus accumulated depreciation. In addition, the

Trust attempts to structure its financings so as to

stagger the maturities of its debt, thereby mitigating

its exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

From time to time, the Trust may enter into interest

rate swap contracts to modify the interest rate

profile of its outstanding debt without an exchange

of the underlying principal amount.

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that tenants

may experience financial difficulty and be unable to

fulfill their lease commitments. The Trust mitigates

the risk of credit loss by ensuring that its tenant mix

is diversified and by limiting its exposure to any one

tenant. Thorough credit assessments are conducted

in respect of all new leasing. Further risks arise in

the event that borrowers default on the repayment

of their mortgages to the Trust. The Trust

endeavours to ensure that adequate security has

been provided in support of mortgages receivable.

(c) Currency Risk

The Trust is exposed to currency risk as it relates to

its self-sustaining U.S. subsidiary. Changes in the

applicable exchange rate may result in a decrease or

increase in income or expense.

The Trust mitigates this risk by matching foreign

currency debt with foreign currency assets.

The Trust entered into forward exchange contracts

to hedge the income after mortgage interest relating

to its U.S. subsidiary. At December 31, 2003, there

are outstanding forward exchange contracts to sell a

notional amount of U.S. $1.4 million, maturing over

the next 12 months at an exchange rate of

Cdn. $1.336.

FAIR VALUES

The fair values of the majority of the Trust’s financial

assets and liabilities, representing net working capital,

approximate their recorded values at December 31, 2003

and 2002 due to their short-term nature.

The fair value of the Trust’s mortgages receivable

approximates carrying value.

The fair value of the Trust’s mortgages payable exceeds

the recorded value by approximately $10.5 million at

December 31, 2003 (December 31, 2002 — fair value

exceeded recorded value by approximately $13.6 million)

due to changes in interest rates since the dates on which

the individual mortgages were assumed. The fair value

of mortgages payable has been estimated based on the

current market rates for mortgages with similar terms

and conditions.

The fair value of the outstanding forward exchange

contracts, based on cash settlement requirements at

December 31, 2003, is a positive value of $55,000

(December 31, 2002 — negative value of $37,000) due to

changes in the foreign currency exchange rate since the

date on which the contracts were made.
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17. SEGMENTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Trust’s operations cover various types of real estate properties. The following summaries present segmented financial

information for these property types:

(Thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2003 Retail Office Industrial Trust Inter-Segment Total

Property rental revenue $ 80,825 $ 74,598 $ 31,628 $ — $ — $ 187,051

Property operating expenses 8,376 17,731 3,879 98 — 30,084

Realty tax 15,495 15,404 5,513 — — 36,412

Property management fees 2,375 2,600 1,084 — (5,836) 223

Amortization of non-recoverable 
deferred maintenance 52 70 83 — — 205

Amortization of recoverable 
deferred maintenance 257 484 373 — (31) 1,083

Property net operating income 54,270 38,309 20,696 (98) 5,867 119,044

Amortization of leasing costs 1,371 1,650 1,458 61 — 4,540

Amortization of leasing costs 
on acquisition of properties 39 66 33 — — 138

Property net effective income 52,860 36,593 19,205 (159) 5,867 114,366

Property 
administrative expenses 564 521 221 5,171 — 6,477

Fee income 1 285 — 6,779 (5,867) 1,198

Lease termination income 34 480 7 — — 521

Income from 
property operations $ 52,331 $ 36,837 $ 18,991 $ 1,449 $ — $ 109,608

Income properties $ 602,832 $ 396,320 $ 173,758 $ — $ — $1,172,910

Accumulated depreciation 23,154 10,332 8,020 — — 41,506

Income properties before 
accumulated depreciation 625,986 406,652 181,778 — — 1,214,416

Deferred leasing costs 6,154 12,247 4,339 140 — 22,880

Deferred leasing costs 
on acquisition 374 722 154 — — 1,250

Deferred recoverable 
maintenance costs 1,670 5,641 2,592 — (230) 9,673

Deferred non-recoverable 
maintenance costs 168 351 621 — — 1,140

$ 634,352 $ 425,613 $ 189,484 $ 140 $ (230) $1,249,359
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(Thousands of dollars)

Year ended December 31, 2002 Retail Office Industrial Trust Inter-Segment Total

Property rental revenue $ 68,055 $ 61,480 $ 29,520 $ — $ — $ 159,055

Property operating expenses 6,759 15,172 3,649 216 — 25,796

Realty tax 12,695 12,227 4,944 — — 29,866

Property management fees 2,054 2,179 1,010 — (4,977) 266

Amortization of non-recoverable 
deferred maintenance 57 72 90 — — 219

Amortization of recoverable 
deferred maintenance 229 366 337 — (7) 925

Property net operating income 46,261 31,464 19,490 (216) 4,984 101,983

Amortization of leasing costs 1,531 1,467 1,306 96 — 4,400

Property net effective income 44,730 29,997 18,184 (312) 4,984 97,583

Property 
administration expenses 397 152 354 4,504 — 5,407

Fee income 1 79 1 5,547 (4,984) 644

Lease termination income 1,306 373 16 — — 1,695

Income from 
property operations $ 45,640 $ 30,297 $ 17,847 $ 731 $ — $ 94,515

Income properties $ 561,937 $ 377,054 $ 169,604 $ — $ — $1,108,595

Accumulated depreciation 18,593 7,370 6,458 — — 32,421

Income properties before 
accumulated depreciation 580,530 384,424 176,062 — — 1,141,016

Deferred leasing costs 6,452 5,781 3,754 185 — 16,172

Deferred recoverable 
maintenance costs 1,580 2,945 2,109 — (35) 6,599

Deferred non-recoverable 
maintenance costs 220 505 568 — — 1,293

$ 588,782 $ 393,655 $ 182,493 $ 185 $ (35) $1,165,080

A reconciliation of statement of income line items noted above to net income is not considered necessary as all other line

items on the face of the Consolidated Statements of Income are not allocated by the Trust to defined segments.
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The estimated commitments for 2002 also included

$10 million related to a put/call option to acquire a

shopping centre development adjacent to an existing

property. The put/call option has been terminated.

(c) Guarantees

The Trust has implemented the requirements of

Accounting Guideline 14 — “Disclosure of Guarantees”,

issued by the Canadian Institute of Chartered

Accountants, which requires a guarantor to disclose

information about guarantees it has provided. Under

this Guideline, a guarantee is defined as a contract or

indemnification agreement that requires an entity to

make payments to a third party contingent on future

events. The disclosures are required even when the

likelihood of the guarantor having to make any

payment under the guarantee is remote.

The Trust continues to guarantee certain debt assumed

by purchasers in connection with historical dispositions

of properties. These guarantees will remain until the

debt is modified, refinanced or extinguished. The Trust

has recourse under these guarantees in the event of

default by the purchaser, in which case the Trust would

have a claim against the underlying property. The

estimated amount of debt subject to such guarantees at

December 31, 2003 is $20.4 million, with an estimated

weighted average remaining term of 4.1 years.

19. PENSION PLAN

The pension plan is a defined contribution pension plan.

The Trust has incurred current service costs in the

amount of $196,000 during the year ended December 31,

2003 (2002 — $148,000). No provision for future

contributions is required and there is no amortization of

past service costs included in the current service costs.

20. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to

conform with the current period’s presentation.

18. COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

(a) Letters of Credit

As of December 31, 2003, the Trust had issued

letters of credit in the amount of $3.9 million

(December 31, 2002 — $0.3 million).

(b) Expansion Lands

The Trust’s estimated commitments in respect of

certain development projects and other

commitments are as follows:
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(Thousands of dollars) 2004 2005 Beyond Total 2002

Industrial developments $ 17,186 $ — $ — $ 17,186 $ 27,500

Retail intensification 4,690 — — 4,690 11,600

Redevelopment 5,736 3,862 — 9,598 —

Future advances under mortgages receivable 9,041 3,515 — 12,556 —

$ 36,653 $ 7,377 $ — $ 44,030 $ 39,100
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Cognos Incorporated and director of Inmet Mining Corporation

and Canadian General-Tower Limited. Mr. Tory has been a

Trustee of CREIT since June 2003.

STEPHEN JOHNSON President & CEO

President and Chief Executive Officer of Canadian Real

Estate Investment Trust since September 1996. Principal,

the Dorchester Group of Companies (real estate and energy

companies), since 1993. Previously President of DS Marcil Inc.

(real estate corporate finance). Mr. Johnson has more than

20 years’ continuous experience in the real estate industry

and he has been a Trustee of CREIT since September 1996.

ROBERT J. S. GIBSON*†

President and Chief Executive Officer of Stuart & Company

Limited (investment company) since January 1993. Mr. Gibson

has been a Director of Alsten Holdings Ltd. (real estate

development and management company) since 1978 and is

currently a Managing Director. Mr. Gibson has been a Trustee

of CREIT since November 1997.

F. ROBERT HEWETT*‡

President and Chief Executive Officer of CMA Holdings

Incorporated and a number of its subsidiary companies

including MD Management Limited. Mr. Hewett assumed

his position with MD Management Limited at the end of

January 1997. Previously he was President, English

Language Broadcasting Division, Telemedia Inc. Mr. Hewett

has been a Trustee of CREIT since September 1996.

* Audit Committee

† Investment Committee

‡ Compensation & Governance Committee

LAWRENCE MORASSUTTI*†

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, The Morassutti Group

(real estate investment, management and consulting).

Mr. Morassutti has been a Trustee of CREIT since 1990.

He has appeared as an expert witness on real estate valuation

matters before a variety of courts and government regulatory

bodies across Canada.

MORRIS SHOHET†

Principal, the Dorchester Group of Companies (real estate and

energy companies). Mr. Shohet was a co-founder of Dorchester

and has more than 30 years’ continuous experience in all

aspects of real estate development and asset management.

Mr. Shohet has been a Trustee of CREIT since September 1996.

ROBERT WITTERICK, Q.C.†‡

Solicitor, Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP. Mr. Witterick has

been a partner at Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP specializing

in taxation and corporate/commercial law, with particular

emphasis on the taxation and structuring of real estate

investments and real estate syndications. Mr. Witterick has

been a Trustee of CREIT since 1990.
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Unitholder Information
The closing price of Units on the Toronto Stock Exchange on March 31, 2004 was $17.30 per Unit.

HISTORICAL DISTRIBUTIONS/

UNIT PRICE INFORMATION

The following table shows the high and low sales prices for the

Trust’s Units on the Toronto Stock Exchange and cash

distributions paid for the periods indicated.

Year Ended Distributions

December 31, 2003 High Low Per Unit

1st Quarter 13.45 12.20 0.3075

2nd Quarter 14.20 12.00 0.3075

3rd Quarter 15.20 13.68 0.3075

4th Quarter 17.00 14.52 0.3075

1.2300

2004

January 17.09 15.80 0.1025

February 17.68 16.51 0.1025

March 17.39 16.20 0.1025

Distributions to Unitholders are paid monthly.

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Units of CREIT are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange

under the trading symbol “REF.UN”.

INVESTOR INFORMATION

Analysts, Unitholders and others seeking financial data

should contact:

Judith Somerville, Corporate Secretary: 416-628-7771

Denise Robertoni, Investor Relations: 416-628-7771 Ext 892

Tim McSorley (CFO): 416-628-7790

CANADIAN REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST 

130 Bloor Street West, Suite 1001

Toronto, Ontario

Tel: 416-628-7771

Fax: 416-628-7777

Web site: www.creit.ca

DISTRIBUTION REINVESTMENT

AND UNIT PURCHASE PLANS

CREIT’s Distribution Reinvestment and Unit Purchase Plans

provide Unitholders who are direct registrants with an

opportunity to conveniently and economically increase their

ownership in CREIT. Unitholders may have their distributions

and/or optional cash investments automatically directed to our

transfer agent to purchase additional Units without paying any

brokerage commissions. Please note, the Canada Revenue Agency

(formerly Canada Customs and Revenue Agency) ruled in

2000 that participation in these plans at a discount is a

benefit. Information describing the Plans and enrollment

forms are available from CREIT’s Web site (www.creit.ca) or by

calling Investor Relations at 416-628-7771 Ext 892.

TAXATION OF DISTRIBUTIONS

Distributions paid to Unitholders in respect of the tax year

ending December 31, 2003 are taxed as follows:

Foreign Non-Business Income 2.02%

Other Taxable Income 51.98%

Reduction of Adjusted Cost Base 46.00%

Foreign Non-Business Income Tax Paid 0.35%

PLAN ELIGIBILITY

• RRSP • RRIF • DPSP • RPP

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

Investors are encouraged to contact our Registrar and

Transfer Agent, CIBC Mellon Trust Company, for information

regarding their security holdings. They can be reached at:

CIBC Mellon Trust Company, P.O. Box 7010,

Adelaide Street Postal Station, Toronto, Ontario M5C 2W9

Answerline™: 416-643-5500 or 1-800-387-0825

(Toll-free throughout North America)

Fax: 416-643-5501

Web site: www.cibcmellon.com

E-mail: inquiries@cibcmellon.com

INDUSTRY ASSOCIATIONS

CREIT is a member of the International Council of Shopping

Centers (ICSC) and the Canadian Institute of Public and

Private Real Estate Companies (CIPPREC).

AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche LLP

LEGAL COUNSEL

Torys

ANNUAL AND GENERAL

MEETING OF UNITHOLDERS

The annual and general meeting of Unitholders will be held

at 9:00 a.m. on Tuesday, June 29, 2004 at the Board of Trade,

4th Floor, Boardrooms A—D, One First Canadian Place, Toronto

(Adelaide Street entrance).

C R E I T  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 3 6 9



Distribution Reinvestment Plan and Unit Purchase Plan

CREIT Unitholders who are direct registrants are able to

conveniently and economically increase their holdings in

CREIT by taking advantage of the Trust’s Distribution

Reinvestment Plan and Unit Purchase Plan.

DISTRIBUTION REINVESTMENT PLAN

Monthly distributions are automatically reinvested in

additional CREIT Units without payment of any brokerage

commissions. The price of Units purchased with such

distributions will be 97% of the weighted average price at

which Units of CREIT have traded on the TSE for the five

trading days immediately preceding the distribution date.

UNIT PURCHASE PLAN

Optional periodic cash investments in additional CREIT Units

may be made without paying any brokerage commissions.

Minimum purchases of $250 per purchase and maximum

purchases of $25,000 per year are permitted under the Plan.

Optional cash payments are invested at the weighted average

price at which Units of CREIT have traded on the TSE for the

five trading days preceding the date of purchase of additional

Units (first day of each calendar month). Distributions on Units

held under the cash option plan are automatically reinvested in

additional CREIT Units.

Participants in the Unit Purchase Plan can elect to use

the Automatic Investment Service, similar to pre-authorized

chequing, which allows for automatic withdrawal from your bank

account should you wish to make regular periodic purchases.

Plans are offered only to Canadian resident registered holders

of Units, meaning those Unitholders who hold their Units in

certificate form. This is necessary in order to allow for the

administration of the Plans by our Registrar and Transfer

Agent — CIBC Mellon Trust Company.

In order to participate you must first become a direct

registrant of CREIT. If you are not already a direct registrant

and you wish to participate in the Plans, you must request a

share certificate from your broker in respect of your CREIT

Units. It is likely that your broker will charge you a service fee

(in the $30—$60 range) in order to deliver the certificate to

you. This fee will be offset by your future savings in brokerage

commissions since all administrative costs of the Plans are

borne by CREIT. We recommend that you then arrange for

safekeeping of your certificate (e.g., in a safety deposit box)

to prevent the possible loss of your certificate.

Once you have received your certificate, please contact

CREIT in order to request an information package including

full Plan details along with an enrollment form, available on

our Web site as well — www.creit.ca.

Please refer to “Income Tax Considerations”, page 5 of the

Plan document.

For further information regarding CREIT’s Distribution

Reinvestment Plan and Unit Purchase Plan, please contact

the CREIT Investor Relations Department at:

130 Bloor Street West, Suite 1001

Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5S 1N5

Tel: 416-628-7771 Ext 892

Fax 416-628-7777

E-mail: drobertoni@creit.ca
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Canadian Real Estate Investment Trust

130 Bloor Street West, Suite 1001

Toronto, Ontario  M5S 1N5

TEL 416.628.7771

FAX 416.628.7777

www.creit.ca

CREIT is a real estate investment trust
that is dedicated to delivering the benefits of real estate ownership to its investors. 

It owns a portfolio of more than115 retail, office and industrial properties.

CREIT’s disciplined approach has consistently provided reliable monthly distributions

and steady growth in earnings, resulting in attractive long-term returns for Unitholders.




